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Results for Announcement to the Market

 
 
 
 
 

Amount Franked amount
Dividends/distributions per security per security

2014 final dividend paid 16.0 cents 16.0 cents

2015 interim dividend paid 19.0 cents 19.0 cents 

2015 final dividend (declared after balance date) 17.0 cents 17.0 cents

Record date for determining entitlements to the dividend 18 September 2015

Dividend payable 16 October 2015 

Commentary on results
SEEK achieved another record result for the year ended 30 June 2015 (“FY2015”) with strong growth from continuing 
operations in both sales revenue (up 20%) and EBITDA (up 15%) compared to the year ended 30 June 2014 (“FY2014”) despite 
significant re-investment across the Group.

The Group’s strong FY2015 sales revenue and EBITDA result was driven by organic growth (SEEK Employment, Zhaopin), and 
the consolidation of JobStreet for seven months of the financial year.  With the exception of SEEK Learning, we saw strong 
underlying local currency results against a backdrop of relatively subdued economic conditions in most markets.

Profit attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited was $281.2m (2014: $195.6m), which was impacted by the following 
significant items: 

•	 In November 2014, SEEK Asia completed the acquisition of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation 
Berhad. As a result, FY2015 benefited from a $100.3m accounting gain on the revaluation of its existing investment in 
JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB), offset by $10.6m of costs associated with the transaction(1);

•	 FY2015 was favourably impacted by a one-off foreign currency gain of $4.7m relating to SEEK’s acquisition of additional 
ownership interests in SEEK Asia and OCC in June 2015;

•	 FY2014 was also favourably impacted by a $23.9m gain on the divestment of THINK, partially offset by $8.0m one-off items 
relating to JobStreet and the write-off of borrowing cost on one of SEEK’s existing syndicated debt facilities following a 
refinancing in March 2014 to support merger and acquisition related activities. 

When adjusted for the significant items above, profit attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited would have been $186.8m in 
FY2015 (FY2014: $179.7m), reflecting growth of 4%.

1. 	 $10.6m costs includes transaction costs incurred by SEEK Asia (post non-controlling interests) and SEEK’s share of transaction costs incurred by JobStreet Corporation Berhad.

Percentage Amount
Change  $m 

Total sales revenue from continuing operations Up 20% To  858.4 

Total revenue from ordinary activities from continuing operations Up 20% To  872.5 

Profit for the period from continuing operations after tax Up 59% To  315.2 

Net profit for the period attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited Up 44% To  281.2 
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From an operational perspective, the key highlights of FY2015 include:

•	 SEEK Asia’s acquisition of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad on 20 November 2014, with 
pleasing progress made on the complex integration between Jobstreet and JobsDB;

•	 Zhaopin establishing itself as the clear market leading online employment marketplace in the People’s Republic of China 
in terms of unique visitors and unique customers;

•	 Strong sales revenue result by SEEK Employment against a backdrop of soft macro conditions; and 

•	 Achieving strong momentum in evolving the online employment business model and rolling out new products and services. 

For further commentary on the results please refer to the corresponding filings released to the ASX on 19 August 2015. 

Financial information
This report is based on accounts which are in the process of being audited.  Audited consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2015 will be included in the 2015 Annual Report. 

Other information required by Listing Rule 4.3A
Other information requiring disclosure to comply with Listing Rule 4.3A is contained in the following pages and the SEEK 
Limited FY15 Results Presentation.
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Revenue from continuing operations 3  872.5  724.2 
Other income 4  100.3  - 

Operating expenses
Direct cost of services (29.2) (29.2)
Sales and marketing (288.0) (230.9)
Business development (71.9) (55.3)
Operations and administration (190.8) (144.9)

Finance costs 5 (30.7) (30.8)

Total operating expenses (610.6) (491.1)

Share of results of equity accounted investments 24(b)  21.7  18.7 

Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations  383.9  251.8 

Income tax expense 7(a) (68.7) (53.4)

Profit from continuing operations  315.2  198.4 

Profit from discontinued operation  -  25.0 

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Profit is attributable to: 
Owners of SEEK Limited  281.2  195.6 

Non-controlling interests  19  34.0  27.8 

 315.2  223.4 

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 

the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6  82.1  50.4 

Diluted earnings per share 6  79.9  49.6 

Earnings per share for total Group profit attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company:

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6  82.1  57.7 

Diluted earnings per share 6  79.9  56.8 

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled operations  19  206.0 (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  19  2.1 (4.6)
(Losses)/gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  19 (62.0)  6.8 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  19  1.6 (1.0)
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step acquisition  19  0.5  - 
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  2.9  15.3 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  4.9  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year  156.0 (27.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year for SEEK Limited  471.2  196.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of SEEK Limited  368.3  177.3 

Non-controlling interests  19  102.9  18.8 

 471.2  196.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of

SEEK Limited arises from:
Continuing operations  368.3  152.6 

Discontinued operation  -  24.7 

 368.3  177.3 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  8  449.6  323.0 
Trade and other receivables  11  120.2  96.5 
Other current financial assets  12(a)  63.1  26.6 

Current tax assets  9.3  - 

Total current assets  642.2  446.1 

Non-current assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method  24  132.4  153.1 
Plant and equipment  28.1  20.7 
Intangible assets  13  2,409.6  1,513.9 
Other non-current financial assets  12(b)  64.6  62.7 

Deferred tax assets  7(c)  24.2  35.7 

Total non-current assets  2,658.9  1,786.1 

Total assets  3,301.1  2,232.2 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  116.9  84.9 
Current borrowings  15(a)  214.9  22.2 
Unearned income  204.3  128.2 
Other financial liabilities  16  10.0  8.2 
Current tax liabilities  17.1  18.2 

Current provisions  17(a)  36.2  23.1 

Total current liabilities  599.4  284.8 

Non-current liabilities

Non-current borrowings  15(b)  769.3  379.8 
Deferred tax liabilities  7(c)  105.2  75.6 

Non-current provisions  17(b)  26.3  23.4 

Total non-current liabilities  900.8  478.8 

Total liabilities  1,500.2  763.6 

Net assets  1,800.9  1,468.6 

Equity

Contributed equity  18  222.9  203.7 
Reserves  19  114.9  73.8 
Retained profits  19  796.5  624.9 

Non-controlling interests  19  666.6  566.2 

Total equity  1,800.9  1,468.6 

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Contributed Retained
Non-

controlling
equity Reserves profits Total interests Total

Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  75.0  513.5  777.0  519.6  1,296.6 

Profit for the year  -  -  195.6  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Other comprehensive income  - (18.3)  - (18.3) (9.0) (27.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year  - (18.3)  195.6  177.3  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  14.2  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid  -  - (88.4) (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share option scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  8.1  -  8.1 
Employee share option scheme of 
subsidiary  -  5.8  -  5.8  -  5.8 
Tax associated with employee share 
schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  4.2  -  -  - 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  1.1  -  1.1  0.3  1.4 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary 
under common control  - (1.0)  - (1.0)  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  9.6  -  9.6  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (0.8)  -  0.2 (0.2)  - 
Share of reserve movement of associates  - (1.5)  - (1.5)  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  73.8  624.9  902.4  566.2  1,468.6 

Profit for the year  -  -  281.2  281.2  34.0  315.2 

Other comprehensive income  -  87.1  -  87.1  68.9  156.0 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  87.1  281.2  368.3  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  19.2  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid  -  - (120.2) (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share option scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  10.3  -  10.3 
Employee share option scheme of 
subsidiary  -  2.7  -  2.7  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  - (8.6)  - (8.6)  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share 
schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  10.6  -  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiaries 19(a)  - (37.5)  - (37.5) (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (2.9)  - (2.9)  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  0.6  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  114.9  796.5  1,134.3  666.6  1,800.9 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



5SEEK Limited Preliminary Final Report 2015

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)  924.7  748.2 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (534.8) (438.0)

 389.9  310.2 

Interest received  12.9  10.9 

Interest paid (23.1) (19.4)

Transaction costs (16.2) (2.4)

Income taxes paid (82.1) (73.1)

Tax refund received  -  4.1 

Cash inflow from operating activities attributable to discontinued operation  -  4.5 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9  281.4  234.8 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed  -  92.4 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (512.9) (5.0)

Dividends and distributions received from associates 24(b)  29.0  20.1 

Dividends received from financial assets  0.9  - 

Payment for additional interest in associate (6.4) (9.4)

Payment for investment in associates and joint ventures (17.7)  - 

Payments for intangible assets (40.1) (29.8)

Payments for plant and equipment (16.6) (11.8)

Cash outflow from investing activities attributable to discontinued operation  - (3.3)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (563.8)  53.2 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  628.8  131.0 

Repayment of borrowings (119.7) (211.9)

Transaction costs on establishment of debt facilities (6.0) (2.7)

Proceeds from Zhaopin IPO  -  93.0 

Exercise of Zhaopin underwriter's option  11.9  - 

Transaction costs relating to Zhaopin IPO  - (9.5)

Cash released from deposits to support entrusted loan facilities  27.2  25.5 

Cash placed on deposit to support entrusted loan facilities (15.3) (29.0)

Proceeds from issues of shares 18  19.2  14.2 

Proceeds from share options in subsidiaries  18.2  1.4 

Dividends paid to members of the parent 20 (120.2) (88.4)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 23(b) (24.7) (29.7)

Payment for additional interest in subsidiary (157.7) (36.1)

Contributions from non-controlling interests  100.1  - 

Payment for other financing arrangements (16.7) (0.8)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  345.1  (143.0)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  62.7  145.0 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  323.0  184.8 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  63.9 (6.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8  449.6  323.0 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

1.  Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001 with the exception of 
certain disclosures relating to share-based payments. SEEK Limited is a  for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements.

The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of SEEK Limited and its subsidiaries. 

(i)  Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of SEEK Limited Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), with the exception of certain disclosures relating to share-
based payments.

(ii)  Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

(iii)  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed 
in the relevant notes. 

(iv)  Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out in the 
relevant notes. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(v)  Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

2.  Segment information
(a)  Description of segments
In March 2015, SEEK’s CEO announced a realignment of portfolios within the Executive leadership team:

•	 Michael Ilczynski is taking the role of MD SEEK Employment. He will lead SEEK Employment in Australia and New Zealand, 
including responsibility for Sales, Marketing, IT, Product, Strategy, Development and Delivery.

•	 Joe Powell is taking the role of MD SEEK Education and will have responsibility for the growing education portfolio 
including SEEK Learning, IDP, Swinburne Online and international expansion opportunities.

Accounting Policy
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker 
(CODM). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Chief Executive Officer.

Segment EBITDA is the measure utilised by the CODM to measure the businesses’ profitability. Segment EBITDA is earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and excludes share of results of equity accounted investments, amortisation of share-based 
payments and long-term incentives, gains/losses on investing activities, and other non-operating gains/losses.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that 
can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of 
operating cash, receivables, other financial assets, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, net of related provisions. 
While most of these assets can be directly attributed to individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by 
segments are allocated based on reasonable estimates and usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors, 
other financial liabilities and employee entitlements.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on an “arm’s length” basis and 
are eliminated on consolidation. The amounts provided to the CODM with respect to total assets and total liabilities are measured in a 
manner consistent with that of the financial statements. Assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.
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In addition, three new Executives were appointed, effective from March 2015 - Ronnie Fink (Corporate Development Director, 
driving SEEK’s acquisition activity), Simon Lusted (Group Strategy Director, driving the employment strategy across all 
markets) and Isar Mazer (MD International Operations, driving operational cooperation with the international business as well 
as the Latin American businesses). 

As a consequence of the above changes, and considering the high degree of integration that has been achieved between the 
JobStreet and JobsDB businesses, leading to consolidated SEEK Asia reporting, segment reporting has been rearranged for 
FY2015.  Comparative information has been restated to be presented on the same basis.

The Group reports its business through two business divisions: Domestic and International.

•	 The Domestic business now comprises four operating segments:

–– Core Employment; operates online employment marketplace services through the SEEK website. It sells these services 
in Australia and New Zealand;  

–– Early Stage Employment; comprises a portfolio of small investments that provide products and services which sit 
‘adjacent’ to the core online employment marketplace of SEEK Employment, including Jora (formerly known as 
JobSeeker) and share of profits/(losses) from other immaterial investments;

–– SEEK Learning; markets, sells and distributes (predominantly through online channels) education courses in Australia. 
These courses are developed and delivered by outside providers;

–– Education Other; comprises other costs associated with managing and setting the strategic direction of SEEK’s 
Education businesses, as well as SEEK’s share of profits/(losses) from IDP and Swinburne Online.

•	 The International business comprises the following operating segments being controlling interests in:

–– SEEK Asia (operating in seven countries across South East Asia and includes the consolidated results of JobStreet 
and JobsDB);

–– Zhaopin (operating in China);

–– Brasil Online (operating in Brazil); and

–– OCC (operating in Mexico).

as well as “International other”, which comprises other operating costs associated with managing the international 
businesses, including interests in International associates One Africa Media (based in seven countries across Africa), Babajob 
(based in India) and other immaterial investments. International other also included the equity accounted investment JCB 
(based in Malaysia) until the cessation of equity accounting described in note 21.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2.

 S
eg

m
en

t i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

(b
) 

Se
gm

en
t i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 th

e 
C

O
D

M

30
 J

un
e 

20
15

D
om

es
ti

c
In

te
rn

at
io

na
l

C
on

ti
nu

in
g 

O
pe

ra
ti

on
s

C
or

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t
Ea

rl
y 

St
ag

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t
SE

EK
 

Le
ar

ni
ng

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
O

th
er

To
ta

l
SE

EK
  

A
si

a
Zh

ao
pi

n
B

ra
si

l 
 O

nl
in

e
O

C
C

In
t'l

 
 O

th
er

To
ta

l
N

ot
es

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

$
m

R
ev

en
ue

Sa
le

s 
re

ve
nu

e 
fr

om
 e

xt
er

na
l 

cu
st

om
er

s
 2

73
.2

 
 2

.7
 

 8
1.

2 
 -

 
 3

57
.1

 
 1

04
.7

 
 2

52
.8

 
 1

19
.3

 
 2

4.
5 

 -
 

 5
01

.3
 

 8
58

.4
 

To
ta

l s
al

es
 r

ev
en

ue
 2

73
.2

 
 2

.7
 

 8
1.

2 
 -

 
 3

57
.1

 
 1

04
.7

 
 2

52
.8

 
 1

19
.3

 
 2

4.
5 

 -
 

 5
01

.3
 

 8
58

.4
 

D
iv

id
en

d 
in

co
m

e
3

 1
.2

 

In
te

re
st

 in
co

m
e

3
 1

2.
9 

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 r
ev

en
ue

3
 8

72
.5

 

Se
gm

en
t E

B
IT

D
A

 1
54

.2
 

(0
.6

)
 3

2.
5 

(1
.7

)
 1

84
.4

 
 4

9.
1 

 6
7.

0 
 4

3.
7 

 7
.8

 
(3

.1
)

 1
64

.5
 

 3
48

.9
 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
(2

.2
)

 -
 

(1
.2

)
 -

 
(3

.4
)

(1
.7

)
(4

.6
)

(1
.3

)
(0

.8
)

 -
 

(8
.4

)
(1

1.
8)

Am
or

tis
at

io
n

13
(1

0.
7)

(1
.3

)
(0

.7
)

 -
 

(1
2.

7)
(9

.6
)

(6
.4

)
(1

.0
)

(1
.7

)
 -

 
(1

8.
7)

(3
1.

4)
Sh

ar
e 

of
 n

et
 p

ro
fit

s/
(lo

ss
es

) o
f 

eq
ui

ty
 a

cc
ou

nt
ed

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

24
 -

 
(0

.3
)

 -
 

 2
5.

7 
 2

5.
4 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

(3
.7

)
(3

.7
)

 2
1.

7 
Fa

ir
 v

al
ue

 g
ai

ns
 o

n 
st

ep
 

ac
qu

is
iti

on
s

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 1
00

.3
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 1
00

.3
 

 1
00

.3
 

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

co
st

s 
fr

om
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

(1
4.

0)
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
(1

4.
0)

(1
4.

0)

O
th

er
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

(0
.2

)
 4

.9
 

 4
.7

 
 4

.7
 

U
na

llo
ca

te
d:

Am
or

tis
at

io
n 

of
 s

ha
re

-b
as

ed
 

pa
ym

en
ts

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 lo

ng
 te

rm
 

in
ce

nt
iv

e 
sc

he
m

es
(1

8.
7)

D
iv

id
en

d 
in

co
m

e
 1

.2
 

In
te

re
st

 in
co

m
e

 1
2.

9 

In
te

re
st

 e
xp

en
se

(2
9.

9)

P
ro

fit
 b

ef
or

e 
in

co
m

e 
ta

x 
ex

pe
ns

e
 3

83
.9

 



9SEEK Limited Preliminary Final Report 2015

(b
) 

Se
gm

en
t i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 th

e 
C

O
D

M
 c

on
tin

ue
d

30
 J

un
e 

20
14

 
R

es
ta

te
d

D
om

es
tic

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l
C

on
tin

ui
ng

 
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

C
or

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t
Ea

rl
y 

St
ag

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t
SE

EK
 

Le
ar

ni
ng

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
O

th
er

To
ta

l
SE

EK
  

As
ia

Zh
ao

pi
n

B
ra

si
l 

 O
nl

in
e

O
C

C
In

t'l
 

 O
th

er
To

ta
l

N
ot

es
$m

$m
$m

$m
$m

$m
$m

$m
$m

$m
$m

$m

R
ev

en
ue

Sa
le

s 
re

ve
nu

e 
fr

om
 e

xt
er

na
l 

cu
st

om
er

s
 2

40
.3

 
 0

.9
 

 8
5.

6 
 -

 
 3

26
.8

 
 5

9.
4 

 1
83

.9
 

 1
18

.8
 

 2
2.

3 
 -

 
 3

84
.4

 
 7

11
.2

 
In

te
r-

se
gm

en
t s

al
es

 r
ev

en
ue

(1
)

 -
 

 -
 

 2
.1

 
 -

 
 2

.1
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 2
.1

 

To
ta

l s
al

es
 r

ev
en

ue
3

 2
40

.3
 

 0
.9

 
 8

7.
7 

 -
 

 2
.1

 
 5

9.
4 

 1
83

.9
 

 1
18

.8
 

 2
2.

3 
 -

 
 -

 
 7

13
.3

 
In

te
re

st
 in

co
m

e
3

 1
0.

9 

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 r
ev

en
ue

3
 7

24
.2

 

Se
gm

en
t E

B
IT

D
A

 1
45

.7
 

(1
.1

)
 4

6.
7 

(0
.7

)
 1

90
.6

 
 2

1.
3 

 5
2.

4 
 3

9.
3 

 9
.8

 
(9

.5
)

 1
13

.3
 

 3
03

.9
 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
(1

.6
)

 -
 

(1
.1

)
 -

 
(2

.7
)

(3
.8

)
(0

.8
)

(0
.5

)
 -

 
(6

.1
)

(8
.8

)
Am

or
tis

at
io

n
13

(8
.2

)
(0

.4
)

(0
.6

)
 -

 
(9

.2
)

(6
.3

)
(6

.4
)

(1
.3

)
(1

.8
)

 -
 

(1
5.

8)
(2

5.
0)

Sh
ar

e 
of

 n
et

 p
ro

fit
s/

(lo
ss

es
) o

f 
eq

ui
ty

 a
cc

ou
nt

ed
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 -

 
(0

.2
)

 -
 

 2
0.

4 
 2

0.
2 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 3
.9

 
 3

.9
 

 2
4.

1 
D

ilu
tio

n 
of

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 

as
so

ci
at

es
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
(5

.4
)

(5
.4

)
(5

.4
)

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

co
st

s 
fr

om
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

(2
.2

)
(0

.8
)

 -
 

 -
 

 -
 

(3
.0

)
(3

.0
)

O
th

er
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 -
 

 -
 

(0
.3

)
 -

 
(0

.3
)

 -
 

 1
.2

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

 
 1

.2
 

 0
.9

 
U

na
llo

ca
te

d:
Am

or
tis

at
io

n 
of

 s
ha

re
-b

as
ed

 
pa

ym
en

ts
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 
in

ce
nt

iv
e 

sc
he

m
es

(1
8.

1)
In

te
re

st
 in

co
m

e
 1

0.
9 

In
te

re
st

 e
xp

en
se

(2
7.

7)

P
ro

fit
 b

ef
or

e 
in

co
m

e 
ta

x 
ex

pe
ns

e
 2

51
.8

 

1.
In

te
r-

se
gm

en
t r

ev
en

ue
 in

cl
ud

es
 in

te
rc

om
pa

ny
 s

al
es

 e
lim

in
at

io
n 

of
 $

2.
1m

 (2
01

3:
 $

3.
9m

) f
or

 s
al

es
 m

ad
e 

by
 S

EE
K

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
to

 T
H

IN
K

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
G

ro
up

, w
hi

ch
 is

 e
lim

in
at

ed
 w

ith
in

 d
is

co
nt

in
ue

d 
op

er
at

io
ns

.



10 SEEK Limited Preliminary Final Report 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2.  Segment information continued 
(d)  Geographical information
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue from continuing operations is based on 
the geographical location of the customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

2015 2014 - Restated*

Revenue(1)
Non-current 

assets(2) Revenue(1)
Non-current 

assets(2)

$m $m $m $m

Australia  329.6  156.9  304.7  129.8 
New Zealand  27.1  5.5  23.9  5.7 
Brazil  119.3  342.8  118.8  392.8 
Mexico  24.5  169.5  22.3  168.3 
China  252.8  753.2  192.5  641.4 
Hong Kong  36.3  2.1  28.4  1.7 
Malaysia  22.1  20.1  0.6  46.1 
Singapore  16.8  1.4  7.2  0.2 
Thailand  10.3  0.3  8.5  0.2 
Philippines  13.7  0.6  2.9  0.1 
South East Asia Unallocated(3)  -  1,135.2  -  340.5 
Africa  -  23.1  -  17.5 
India  -  13.0  -  - 

Rest of the world  5.9  11.0  3.5  6.1 

Total allocated  858.4  2,634.7  713.3  1,750.4 

Unallocated:
Dividend income  1.2  - 
Interest income  12.9  10.9 

Deferred tax assets  24.2  35.7 

Total   872.5  2,658.9  724.2  1,786.1 

1. Amounts allocated represent sales revenue from external customers.
2. Amounts allocated represent all non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets.
3. Non-current assets presented as South East Asia Unallocated represents goodwill and other intangible assets assumed as part of the JobsDB and JobStreet acquisitions, which is 

consistent with the approach for impairment testing (refer to note 13).
* 2014 results have been restated to reflect changes to 2015 geographical segments following the completion of the JobStreet acquisition.
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3.  Revenue

* 	 2014 results have been restated to reflect changes to the Group’s operating segments which occurred during 2015, refer to note 2 for details.

2015
2014 - 

Restated*
Notes $m $m

Sales revenue

Employment - job and banner advertising  273.2  240.3 
Early stage employment - job and banner advertising  2.7  0.9 
International - job, banner advertising and CV online  501.3  384.4 
Learning - commission revenue  81.2  84.7 

Learning - classroom-based training  -  3.0 

Total sales revenue from continuing operations  858.4  713.3 

Other revenue

Dividend income  1.2  - 

Interest income  12.9  10.9 

Total revenue from continuing operations  872.5  724.2 

Accounting Policy
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates, taxes and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates 
on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i)  Job advertisements
Revenues from the provision of job advertisements are recognised in the period over which the advertisements are placed.

(ii)  Banner advertising
Revenues from banner advertising on the Group’s websites are generated based on a fixed price which is based on the impressions each 
banner receives. These revenues are recognised in the period that the impressions occur. 

(iii)  CV online revenue
Revenue from services provided to jobseekers through CV online is recognised over the service period.

(iv) Offline employment services 
Revenue from offline employment services (such as campus recruitment services, assessment services and other human resources 
related services) is recognised upon delivery of the completion report or when the service performance is complete.

(v)  Education: commission revenue
Commission revenue is recognised when the customer obtains unconditional access to the course material or when revenue can be 
reliably estimated. Revenue that relates to agency relationships is recognised on a net basis. 

(vi)  Education: classroom-based training
Revenues from classroom-based training are recognised from course commencement and brought to account on a pro-rata basis over 
the duration of the relevant teaching period. 

(vii)  Dividend income
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. Dividend income from subsidiaries is eliminated 
on consolidation.  Dividend income from equity accounted investments is shown as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.  
Dividend income from investments that are neither consolidated nor equity accounted are included in revenue in the income statement.

(viii)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method (EIR), which is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, 
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the 
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the 
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 

(ix) Royalty income
Royalty income relates to intercompany charges for the use of intellectual property. It is recognised on an accruals basis and is reviewed 
annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

4.  Other income

2015 2014

Notes $m $m

Fair value gain on step acquisitions 21(c)  100.3  - 

5.  Expenses
Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations includes the following specific net losses and expenses:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Specific costs included within 'operations and administration' 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 2(b)  11.8  8.8 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2(b)  31.4  25.0 
Rental expenses relating to operating leases:

Minimum lease payments  20.5  18.6 
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses recognised in profit before income tax expense (8.8)  3.0 

Transaction costs from investing activities  14.0  3.0 

Finance costs

Interest expense  29.9  27.6 

Interest unwound on put option  -  0.1 
Total interest expense  29.9  27.7 

Other finance charges paid/payable  0.8  3.1 

Total finance costs  30.7  30.8 

Employee benefits

Salary costs  262.0  186.2 
Share-based payments and other long-term incentives  18.7  18.1 

Superannuation costs and other pension related costs  22.4  19.3 

Total employee benefits  303.1  223.6 
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6.  Earnings per share 

 
 

2015 2014
Cents per share Cents per share

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

EPS attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

  From continuing operations  82.1  79.9  50.4  49.6 

  From discontinued operation  -  -  7.3  7.2 

Earnings per share from profit for the year  82.1  79.9  57.7  56.8 

 
(i) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

2015 2014
number number

Weighted average number of shares used as denominator in calculating basic EPS  342,571,482  339,348,510 
Weighted average of potential dilutive ordinary shares:

 - options  3,565,118  4,304,618 

 - performance rights  405,731  714,570 

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted EPS  346,542,331  344,367,698 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The weighted average of potential dilutive ordinary shares excludes 1,217,614 options (2014: nil) which are considered 
antidilutive.

(ii) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

2015 2014

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
$m $m $m $m

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:

  From continuing operations  281.2  281.2  170.9  170.9 

    Potential dilutive adjustment for subsidiary option plans  - (4.3)  -  - 

 Adjusted profit from continuing operations  281.2  276.9  170.9  170.9 

 From discontinued operation  -  -  24.7  24.7 

Adjusted profit for the year  281.2  276.9  195.6  195.6 

Accounting Policy
(i)  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and including treasury shares.

(ii)  Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

•	 the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares;

•	 the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares; and

•	 the after income tax effect of subsidiary option plans which would dilute SEEK’s ownership in controlled subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

7.  Income tax

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group is subject to income taxes (and other similar taxes) in Australia and in a number of overseas jurisdictions. Judgement is 
required in determining the Group provision for income taxes.

Uncertain tax positions
There are certain transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on its current understanding of the tax law. Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the future period in which such determination is made.

Research and development claim
The research and development claim available to the Company is estimated in the accounts because a full assessment of the position 
cannot be made by the year end. It is the policy of the Company to only bring to account that preliminary portion of expenses that is 
reasonably expected to be claimable at period end.

Tax rate applicable to Group’s People’s Republic of China (PRC) entities
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) applies an income tax rate of 25% to all enterprises but grants preferential tax 
treatment to High and New Technology Enterprises (HNTEs). Under this preferential tax treatment, HNTEs can enjoy a preferential 
income tax rate of 15% for three years, but need to reapply after the end of the three-year period. 

Except for Beijing Wangpin (a PRC entity controlled by Zhaopin Ltd), all of the Group’s PRC entities are subject to EIT at a rate of 25%. 
Beijing Wangpin qualifies as an HNTE and therefore is entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2014 to 
31 December 2016. Deferred tax as of 30 June 2015 and EIT expense for the twelve months then ended were calculated at a rate of 15% 
accordingly.

(a)  Income tax expense

Accounting policy
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable tax 
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be 
recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a 
reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

Australian income tax consolidation legislation
SEEK Limited and its wholly-owned Australian entities elected to form an income tax consolidated group as of 1 July 2004. On adoption 
of the income tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the income tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing agreement which, 
in the opinion of the directors, limits the entities’ joint and several liability in the case of an income tax payment default by the head 
entity, SEEK Limited.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the entities fully compensate SEEK Limited for any current 
income tax payable assumed and are compensated by SEEK Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to 
unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to SEEK Limited under the income tax consolidation legislation. The funding 
amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, 
which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding 
amounts to assist with its obligations to pay income tax instalments. The funding amounts are recognised as current intercompany 
receivables or payables. 
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2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current tax  69.9  63.3 
Deferred tax (1.9) (3.1)
Tax refund from prior years  - (3.9)

Under/(over) provision in prior years  0.7 (0.6)

Income tax expense  68.7  55.7 

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets  0.9 (0.1)

(Decrease) in deferred tax liability (2.8) (3.0)

(1.9) (3.1)

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Continuing operations  68.7  53.4 

Discontinued operation  -  2.3 

Total income tax expense  68.7  55.7 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
2015 2014

$m $m

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Continuing operations  383.9  251.8 

Discontinued operation  -  27.3 

 383.9  279.1 

Income tax calculated @ 30% (2014: 30%)  115.2  83.7 

Tax effect of amounts that are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating income tax:

Fair value gains on step acquisitions (30.1)  - 
Adjustment to acquisition tax provisions (0.4) (4.5)
Foreign subsidiary losses not recognised in the Group  1.1  0.9 
Research and development claim (4.4) (2.3)
Non-taxable gain on disposal of subsidiary  - (6.3)
Interest on equity deduction (0.1) (0.5)
Tax effect on share of net profits of associates and joint ventures (6.5) (5.6)
Tax deductible goodwill (3.8) (2.2)
Taxable unfranked dividend  2.0  - 
Non-deductible/(non-assessable) items:

  Legal fees and acquisition costs  5.5  1.3 
  Share-based payments  0.9  1.1 
  Financing activities (0.6)  - 

    Other  0.6  0.4 

 79.4  66.0 

Income tax adjusted for permanent differences:
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (0.6) (0.1)
Effect of different rates of tax on overseas income (10.8) (5.7)
Tax refund from prior years  - (3.9)

Under/(over) provision in prior year  0.7 (0.6)

Income tax expense attributable to profit from ordinary activities  68.7  55.7 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

7.  Income tax continued
(b)  Amounts recognised directly in equity
Tax expense relating to items of other comprehensive income:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Deferred tax debited directly to hedge reserve (2.6)  - 

Deferred tax credit in relation to share-based payment schemes 19  2.9  15.3 

 0.3  15.3 

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income but directly debited or credited to equity:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current tax credited directly to retained profits

  New issue of shares  10.6  4.2 

19  10.6  4.2 

(c)  Deferred taxes

Accounting policy
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

Potential deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
When the Group does not recognise deferred tax liabilities in relation to undistributed profits of its subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures, this is on the basis that either the distribution of those profits would not give rise to a tax liability or the directors consider they 
have the ability to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences.

(i) Deferred tax assets

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July  35.7  30.4 
(Debited)/credited to the consolidated income statement (0.9)  0.1 
(Debited)/credited to equity (10.3)  11.1 
Exchange differences (0.1) (0.4)
Acquisition of subsidiary 21  2.2  - 
Disposal of subsidiary 22  - (4.7)

(Over) provision in prior year (2.4) (0.8)

Closing balance at 30 June  24.2  35.7 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months  13.7  11.6 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months  10.5  24.1 

Closing balance at 30 June  24.2  35.7 
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The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

2015 2014
$m $m

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Provision for impairment of trade receivables  0.6  0.8 
Unearned income  4.8  2.1 
Employee benefits  6.0  4.3 
Provision for credit notes  0.2  0.2 
Fringe benefits tax  -  0.1 
Share-based payments  5.3  6.6 
Other provisions  7.5  5.7 
Plant and equipment and intangible assets  3.3  4.0 
Goodwill  3.2  2.2 
Foreign exchange gains  0.2  1.1 
Legal and acquisition costs  0.2  0.5 

Research and development tax offset (10.4) (5.4)

 20.9  22.2 
Amounts recognised directly in equity:

Share-based payments  5.9  13.5 

Cash flow hedge reserve (2.6)  - 

Net deferred tax assets  24.2  35.7 

(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July  75.6  85.5 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (2.8) (3.0)
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1) 21  23.7  1.1 
Disposal of subsidiaries  - (5.4)

Exchange differences  8.7 (2.6)

Closing balance at 30 June  105.2  75.6 

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled within 12 months  3.2  1.2 

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after more than 12 months  102.0  74.4 

Closing balance at 30 June  105.2  75.6 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Intangible assets  101.3 73.6
Withholding tax on undistributed profits  3.5  1.8 

Other items  0.4  0.2 

Net deferred tax liabilities  105.2  75.6 

1. Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2015 relates to JobStreet (2014: Jora).
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

8.  Cash and cash equivalents

Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2015 2014
$m $m

Cash at bank and on hand  423.3  288.8 

Short-term investments  26.3  34.2 

 449.6  323.0 

(a)  Restricted cash in the People’s Republic of China
Cash and bank balance as at 30 June 2015 includes restricted cash of RMB 43.5m (A$9.2m) held by some subsidiaries in the 
People’s Republic of China (2014: A$7.9m) which can be used in the People’s Republic of China, but is not freely convertible 
into other currencies for transfer around the Group.

(b)  Short‑term investments
Short‑term investments comprise mainly bank deposits, debentures and fixed income funds held by subsidiaries of SEEK’s 
controlled entities Brasil Online and OCC. These highly liquid deposits and investments are readily convertible into known 
cash amounts and are subject to insignificant risk of changes of value.

9. � Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities
2015 2014

Notes $m $m

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation  43.2  36.8 
Amortisation of share-based payments  13.0  13.9 
Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses (4.0)  0.7 
Amortisation of debt transaction costs  1.7  3.5 
Amortisation of other financing arrangements  0.9  1.8 
Aggregated tax amounts arising in the reporting period recognised directly in equity  7.7 (11.1)
Share of results of equity accounted investments (21.7) (18.7)

Items relating to step acquisitions
Fair value (gains) on step acquisitions 21 (100.3)  - 

Classified as financing and investing activities
Transaction costs expensed relating to financing activities  -  1.0 
Settlement of non-operating hedge  14.9  - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (19.0) (22.8)
(Increase) in other financial assets (24.2) (2.1)
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets  13.7 (10.1)
(Increase)/decrease in current tax assets (9.3)  0.1 
Increase in trade and other payables  28.0  14.8 
Increase in deferred income  57.9  9.9 
(Decrease) in current tax liability (2.9) (3.8)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  7.2 (6.5)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability  5.9 (4.9)
Increase in other financial liabilities  4.5  0.1 

Exchange (gain)/loss on translation of foreign operations (51.0)  8.8 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  281.4  234.8 
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10.  Financial risk management
This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risk and how these risks could affect the Group’s future financial 
performance.  Current year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to add further context.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Market risk – foreign exchange Recognised financial assets and 
liabilities not denominated in AUD

Sensitivity analysis Forward foreign exchange 
contracts 
Foreign currency debt

Future commercial transactions Cash flow forecasting
Market risk – price risk Investment in a security listed on 

the Malaysian Stock Exchange 
(Bursa Malaysia)

Sensitivity analysis N/A

Market risk – interest rate Long-term borrowings at variable 
interest rates

Sensitivity analysis Interest rate swaps

Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, derivative financial 
instruments and available-for-
sale debt instruments

Ageing analysis 
Credit ratings

Credit limits

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other liabilities Ageing analysis 
Credit ratings

Availability of committed 
borrowing facilities

The Group’s risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury) under policies approved by 
the Board of Directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8  449.6  323.0 
Trade and other receivables(1)  98.7  78.8 

Other financial assets 12(a)(b)  127.7  89.3 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  116.9  84.9 
Other financial liabilities 16  10.0  8.2 

Borrowings (principal)  991.1  404.9 

1. Trade and other receivables in the table excludes prepayments which are not classified as financial instruments.

The carrying value of the assets and liabilities disclosed in the table above closely approximates or equals their fair value.

Borrowings are issued at variable interest rates (for details of the maturity of borrowings, refer to note 15).  Cash and cash 
equivalents (refer to note 8) and funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (note 12) attract interest at variable interest 
rates. All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.
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10. Financial risk management continued 
(a)  Market risk

(i) Derivatives

Accounting policy
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

•	 hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

•	 hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast 
transactions (cash flow hedges);or

•	 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness 
assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument.  The Group enters into 
hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument exactly match the terms of the hedged item, and so a qualitative 
assessment is performed. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match 
exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 19. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified 
as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current 
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

(i)  Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss relating to the 
effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within “finance costs”, together 
with the changes in the fair value of the hedge fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate risk. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss within “operations and administration expenses”.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the 
effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity using a recalculated effective interest rate.

(ii)  Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss within “operating and administration expenses”.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The gain 
or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within 
“finance costs”.

The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of other derivative instruments, where the underlying exposure is not related to funding 
the Company, is recognised within profit or loss within “operations and administration expenses”.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
equity is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)  Net investment hedges

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
within “operating and administration expenses”.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

(iv)  Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or loss and are included in “operating and administration expenses”.
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Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative instruments.  The Group has the following 
derivative financial instruments:

2015 2014
$m $m

Current assets

Forward foreign exchange options - cash flow hedge (ii)  12.2  1.3 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges  0.9  - 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - held for trading  1.0  0.3 

Cross currency swap contracts - net investment hedge  -  0.5 

Total current derivative financial assets  14.1  2.1 

Current liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges  2.8  1.0 
Cross currency swap contracts - net investment hedge  7.2  3.2 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges  -  0.1 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - held for trading  -  2.5 

Total current derivative financial liabilities  10.0  6.8 

(ii)  Forward foreign exchange options - cash flow hedges

The Group maintains borrowings denominated in USD.  In order to protect against unfavourable exchange rate movements, 
the Group has taken out forward foreign exchange option contracts to purchase USD.

These option contracts have purchased calls between 0.86-0.74 and sold puts between 0.75-0.69, with exercise dates in 
January 2015 and July 2016.

(iii)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
predominantly the US dollar (USD), Singapore dollar (SGD), Hong Kong dollar (HKD), Malaysian Ringgit (MYR), New Zealand 
dollar (NZD), Brazilian Real (BRL), Mexican Peso (MXN) and Chinese Yuan (RMB). The Group’s exposure to these and other 
currencies is detailed on the following page.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.  Forward contracts are sometimes used to manage foreign currency 
exchange risk. Group Treasury is responsible for managing exposures by using external forward currency contracts, for 
example for one-off significant transactions. 

During the year, SEEK has maintained borrowings in USD. The US$273.0m borrowings held by SEEK Limited has been 
designated as a hedge against its overseas investments, thereby protecting this portion of assets against depreciation of the 
USD over the life of the loan.  The Group has also entered into cross-currency swap contracts to create synthetic borrowings 
in the currency of foreign subsidiaries to protect the Group balance sheet against volatility due to movements in foreign 
exchange rates.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk management policy is to hedge up to 100% of anticipated significant cash flows in foreign 
currencies for up to a six month period. The forward foreign currency exchange contracts taken up by the Group are regularly 
reassessed. The derivative instruments used for hedging foreign exchange exposures are forward exchange contracts and 
purchased net forward exchange option contracts.
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The analysis below reflects management’s view of possible movements in relevant foreign currencies against the Australian 
dollar in the short term subsequent to 30 June 2015. The table summarises the range of possible outcomes that would affect 
the Group’s net profit as a result of foreign currency movements.

Profit or Loss

2015 2014
$m $m

High Low High Low

AUD to NZD (Range +5% to -5%) (0.1)  0.1  -  - 
AUD to GBP (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  0.1 (0.1)
AUD to MYR (Range +5% to -5%)  0.1 (0.1)  -  - 
AUD to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.1 (0.1)  0.5 (0.5)
HKD to PHP (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
HKD to IDR (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
HKD to MYR (Range +5% to -5%) (0.3)  0.3  0.1 (0.1)
HKD to SGD (Range +5% to -5%) (0.2)  0.2  -  - 
HKD to RMB (Range +5% to -5%) (0.2)  0.2 (0.1)  0.2 
HKD to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.7 (0.7)  0.4 (0.5)
HKD to AUD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
MXN to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.2 (0.2)  0.2 (0.2)
BRL to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 

RMB to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  - (0.4)  0.4 

Net movement  0.3 (0.3)  0.8 (0.8)

(iv)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk, which arises from the Group’s investment in JobStreet Corporation 
Berhad (“JCB”), as detailed in note 12(b).  This investment is sensitive to the prevailing market price listed on the Bursa 
Malaysia. The underlying asset is denominated in Malaysian Ringgit (MYR).

The closing quoted share price as at 30 June 2015 was MYR1.96.  If the share price were to increase/decrease by 10%, the 
carrying value of the investment would increase/decrease by MYR5.5m (A$1.9m).  Gains and losses on this investment are 
recorded in other comprehensive income.

(v)  Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk.

As part of its capital risk management policy the Group protects part of its borrowings from exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates. The Group has entered into interest rate swap and interest rate option contracts under which it receives 
interest at variable rates and pays interest at fixed rates.

Syndicated loan facility
Swaps and options currently in place cover approximately 62% (2014: 84%) of the variable loan principal outstanding on the 
Group’s loan facility and are timed to expire as each loan repayment falls due. Refer to note 15 for further details.
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10. Financial risk management continued
(a)  Market risk continued
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings and interest rate swap 
contracts outstanding:

2015 2014

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
% $m % $m

AUD denominated borrowings

Bank loans - principal 4.1%  435.0 4.8%  226.0 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 2.9% (320.0) 3.1% (200.0)

 115.0  26.0 

USD denominated borrowings

Bank loan - principal 2.1%  353.9 2.4%  106.0 
Entrusted loan facilities 1.4%  59.6 2.3%  58.3 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 0.3% (212.6) 0.8% (121.0)

 200.9  43.3 

RMB denominated borrowings

Entrusted loan facilities 5.0%  - 3.2%  14.6 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps n/a  - n/a  - 

 -  14.6 

HKD denominated borrowings

Loan facility 4.8%  58.5 4.6%  - 

Less amount covered by interest rate swaps 0.9% (32.4) 0.9% (20.5)

 26.1 (20.5)

SGD denominated borrowings

Loan facility 4.1% 84.0 n/a  - 

Less amount covered by interest rate swaps 0.8% (48.1) n/a  - 

35.9  - 

Total Group borrowings

Total borrowings 3.5%  991.0 3.9%  404.9 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 1.7% (613.1) 2.2% (341.5)

 377.9  63.4 

The interest rate and term for bank borrowings is determined at the date of each drawdown. The weighted average interest 
rate for the year ended 30 June 2015 was 3.5% (2014: 3.9%). At 30 June 2015 if the weighted average interest rate of the facility 
had been 10% higher or 10% lower, interest expense would increase/decrease by $2.5m.

Cash balances
As at 30 June 2015, the Group has $26.3m (2014: $34.2m) held in bank deposits, debentures and fixed income funds held by 
the subsidiaries of SEEK’s controlled entities Brasil Online, Zhaopin and OCC, which attract a higher rate of interest.

The Group’s bank accounts are predominantly interest bearing accounts. Funds that are excess to short‑term liquidity 
requirements are generally invested in short‑term deposits. Where excess funds are significantly in excess of short‑term 
requirements, they are then applied to reduce the syndicated loan facility balance, thus reducing interest payable.

At 30 June 2015, if the interest rates on interest bearing cash balances were to move 10% higher or 10% lower than the 
weighted average rate of 3.2%, annual interest income would increase/decrease by $1.3m respectively. 
 

(b)  Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the Group’s trade and other receivables as well as the 
institutions in which the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited, and with whom derivative instruments are traded, 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets. Further details of the Group’s trade receivables are 
included in note 11, and cash and cash equivalents are detailed in note 8.
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For trade and other receivables, the Group does not hold any credit derivatives or collateral to offset its credit exposure. Due 
to the short‑term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Group trade receivables at 30 June 2015 were $62.2m (note 11).

The domestic Employment and Learning business accounts for 59% of gross trade receivables with a customer base 
comprising of agencies, national/major accounts and small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Credit risk assessments are 
conducted on new and renegotiated contracts to evaluate each customer’s creditworthiness.

The International business represents 41% of gross trade receivables and the exposure to credit risk is relatively low due to 
the credit terms provided and the large and diverse customer base.

Credit risk is managed in the following ways:

•	 The provision of credit is covered by a risk assessment process for all customers (e.g. appropriate credit history, credit 
limits, past experience); and

•	 Concentrations of credit risk are minimised by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.

The Group’s treasury policy only authorises dealings with financial institutions that have an investment grade rating.

(c)  Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and ensuring that all term deposits can be converted 
to funds at call. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group Treasury aims to maintain flexibility in funding 
by keeping accessible the cash reserves of the business. The Group maintains borrowing facilities to enable the Group to 
borrow funds when necessary.  For details of these facilities, refer to note 15.

All other financial liabilities are current and anticipated to be repaid over the normal payment terms, usually 30 days.

(i)  Financial arrangements
The Group had access to the following borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:

Drawn Undrawn Total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Floating rate

Expiring within one year  214.8  22.2  30.0  -  244.8  22.2 

Expiring beyond one year  776.2  382.7  5.2  426.7  781.4  809.4 

 991.0  404.9  35.2  426.7  1,026.2  831.6 

Subject to the continuance of meeting certain financial covenants, the bank loan facilities may be drawn down at any time. 
Refer to note 15 for further details of the Group’s borrowing arrangements. 

(ii)  Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual 
maturities for:

a.	 all non-derivative financial liabilities, and

b.	 net and gross settled derivative financial instruments for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated 
using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.
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10. Financial risk management continued

(c)  Liquidity risk continued

Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities

Less than 6 
months

6 to  
12 months

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

(assets) / 
liabilities

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2015

Non-derivatives
Trade payables  116.9  -  -  -  -  116.9  116.9 

Borrowings  31.1  213.0  377.5  426.6  -  1,048.2  991.0 

Total non-derivatives  148.0  213.0  377.5  426.6  -  1,165.1  1,107.9 

Derivatives
Net settled (interest rate 
swaps)  1.5  1.2  0.9  0.3  -  3.9  2.8 
Gross settled (forward 
foreign exchange contracts 
- net investment hedges)

 - (inflow) (0.6) (0.6) (36.5)  -  - (37.7)  - 
 - outflow  0.2  0.2  43.5  -  -  43.9  7.2 

 1.1  0.8  7.9  0.3  -  10.1  10.0 

Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities

Less than 6 
months

6 to  
12 months

Between 1 and 
2 years

Between 2 and 
5 years Over 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

(assets) / 
liabilities

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2014

Non-derivatives
Trade payables  84.9  -  -  -  -  84.9  84.9 
Borrowings  6.0  28.0  242.0  153.0  -  429.0  404.9 
Total non-derivatives  90.9  28.0  242.0  153.0  -  513.9  489.8 

Derivatives
Net settled (interest rate 
swaps)  0.8  0.7  -  -  -  1.5  1.0 
Gross settled (forward 
foreign exchange contracts 
- net investment hedges)

 - (inflow) (1.4) (51.4) (1.2) (36.5)  - (90.5) (0.5)
 - outflow  0.4  53.6  0.4  35.7  -  90.1  3.2 

(0.2)  2.9 (0.8) (0.8)  -  1.1  3.7 
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(d)  Fair value measurements
SEEK discloses fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

a.	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

b.	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2);and

c.	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

At 30 June 2015 the Group held at fair value the following financial instruments (refer to note 12 and note 16):

Level 1
•	 Non-current financial assets $19.0m;

Level 2
•	 Derivative financial assets $14.1m;

•	 Derivative financial liabilities $10.0m.

(e)  Capital risk management
The Group’s policy is to maintain a capital structure for the business which ensures sufficient liquidity and support for 
business operations, maintains shareholder and market confidence, provides strong stakeholder returns, and positions the 
business for future growth. In assessing capital management the Group considers both equity and debt instruments.

The ongoing maintenance of this policy is characterised by:

•	 Ongoing cash flow forecast analysis and detailed budgeting processes which, combined with continual development 
of banking relationships, is directed at providing a sound financial positioning for the Group’s operations and financial 
management activities;

•	 A capital structure that provides adequate funding for the Group’s potential acquisition and investment strategies, building 
future growth in shareholder value. The syndicated loan facility can be partly used to fund significant investments as part of 
the Group’s growth strategy;

•	 Investment criteria that consider earnings accretion and risk adjusted rate of return requirements based on the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital, and overall strategic goals;

•	 The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, other than contractual banking covenants and 
obligations. The Company has complied with all bank lending requirements during the year and at the date of this report.
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11.  Trade and other receivables
2015 2014

$m $m

Trade receivables  62.2  49.2 

Less: provisions for impairment of receivables (a) (3.3) (3.7)

Net trade receivables (b)  58.9  45.5 
Other receivables (c)  39.8  33.3 

Prepayments  21.5  17.7 

Trade and other receivables  120.2  96.5 

(a)  Provisions for impaired trade receivables

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Opening balances  3.7  6.6 
Provision for impairment recognised during the year  2.3  4.2 
Utilisation of provision for credit notes and receivables written off (2.7) (4.4)
Unused amount reversed (0.1) (0.2)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 21  0.1  - 
Disposal of subsidiaries  - (2.4)

Exchange differences  - (0.1)

Closing balance  3.3  3.7 
Comprising:
Provision for doubtful debts  2.5  3.1 

Credit note provision  0.8  0.6 

 3.3  3.7 

The creation or release of the doubtful debts provision has been included in ‘operations and administration’ expense in the 
consolidated income statement and the creation or the release of the credit note provision has been included within revenue.  
Amounts charged to the provision are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Accounting policy
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less provision for impairment. This provision includes amounts that are not considered to be recoverable from debtors and amounts that 
are expected to be credited to debtors. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. They are presented as current 
assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is used when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days 
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. In addition, the trade 
receivables balances are considered for credit notes that are expected to be raised against individual and collective balances.

The amount of the provision relating to non-collectible items is recognised in the consolidated income statement in “operations and 
administration” expense. The amount of the provision for amounts that are expected to be credited is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement in “revenue from continuing operations”. Trade receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off against 
the provision for impairment. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off to the provision for impairment are credited 
against “operations and administration” expense in the consolidated income statement.
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(b)  Ageing of net trade receivables from due date
2015 2014

$m $m

Current - 30 days  50.2  38.0 
30 - 60 days(1)  5.3  4.1 
60 - 90 days(1)  1.9  1.3 
90 - 120 days(1)  0.9  0.6 

120+  days(1)  0.6  1.5 

Closing balance  58.9  45.5 

1. Past due and not considered impaired.  Trade receivables are considered past due when they are not collected within credit terms.

The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

(c)  Other receivables
The other receivables balance mainly represents accrued revenue in the SEEK Learning business and amounts receivable 
from employees on exercise of share options in Zhaopin.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.

(d)  Fair value and credit risk 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned 
above. Refer to note 10 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the credit quality of the Group’s 
trade receivables.

12.  Other financial assets

Accounting policy
Financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.  If the financial asset is not subsequently accounted for at fair value through profit 
or loss, then the initial measurement includes transaction costs that are directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination.   
On initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on its business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

(i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method and net of any impairment loss, if:

•	 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to collect cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest.

(ii) Financial assets measured at fair value	
These assets are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or 
loss. However, for investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to present 
gains and losses in other comprehensive income.  For such investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
gains and losses are never reclassified to profit or loss, and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss.  Dividends earned from such 
investments are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a repayment of part of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) 
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated.
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12.  Other financial assets continued
(a)  Current financial assets

2015 2014
$m $m

Hedge assets (i)  14.1  2.1 
Short-term bonds  0.1  0.2 

Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (ii)  48.9  24.3 

Total other current financial assets  63.1  26.6 

(b)  Non-current financial assets
2015 2014

$m $m

Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (ii)  44.6  62.0 
Investment in equity instruments (iii)  19.0  - 

Non-current prepayments  1.0  0.7 

Total other non-current financial assets  64.6  62.7 

(i)  Hedge assets
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to 
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies (refer to 
note 10).

The Group has taken out forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign exchange option contracts to protect against 
unfavourable exchange rate movements.

A gain of $14.1m has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the fair value of 
these hedges at 30 June 2015. 

Refer to note 10(a)(i) for further information regarding the Group’s hedge assets.

(ii)  Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities
Zhaopin entrusted loan facilities are supported by funds on deposit of RMB 441.1m (A$93.5m). Refer to note 15(b)(ii) for 
further information.

Funds on deposit includes RMB 87.9m (A$18.6m) which was held to support a RMB 85.0m facility that was repaid in June 
2015.  The process to release the funds from deposit remained in progress at 30 June 2015, and the cash was subsequently 
received in July 2015.

(iii)  Investment in equity instruments
SEEK has elected at initial recognition to record gains and losses of this investment in other comprehensive income.

2015 2014
Shares - JobStreet Corporation Berhad ("JCB") Notes $m $m

Fair value as at 1 July  -  - 
Transfer from investments accounted for using the equity method 21(c)  14.1  - 

Change in fair value  4.9  - 

Fair value as at 30 June  19.0  - 
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13.  Intangible assets

Accounting policy
(i)  Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 21. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments.

(ii)  Brands and licences
Indefinite life brands and licences are carried at cost less any impairment losses and are not amortised. Instead, they are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired, and are carried at 
cost or fair value less accumulated impairment losses. Brands and licences with a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the asset over its 
estimated useful life.

(iii)  Course development and accreditation
Costs incurred on developing and designing courses are recognised as an expense unless it is probable that the course will generate 
future economic benefits and its cost can be measured reliably. Course development expenditure is recognised as an asset at cost less 
any impairment losses. Once delivery of the course to which the development costs relate has commenced the associated costs are 
amortised over the life of the accreditation, which is five years.

(iv)  Customer relationships
Acquired customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at fair value at acquisition date less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the asset over its estimated 
useful life, which is between one and five years.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(i)  Estimated impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are allocated to a cash-generating-unit (CGU) or group of CGUs and tested 
annually to determine whether they have suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated below. 

The recoverable amounts of the CGU or group of CGUs to which the assets have been allocated have been determined based on value-
in-use or fair value calculations. These calculations are performed based on cash flow projections and other supplementary information 
which, given their forward looking nature, require the adoption of assumptions and estimates. 

The key assumptions and estimates utilised in management’s assessments relate primarily to:

•	 Five or ten year cash flow forecasts sourced from internal budgets and long‑term management forecasts;

•	 Terminal value growth rates applied to the period beyond the five or ten year cash flow forecasts; and

•	 Pre-tax discount rates, used to discount the cash flows to present value.

Each of these assumptions and estimates is based on a “best estimate” at the time of performing the valuation. However, increases in 
discount rates or changes in other key assumptions, such as operating conditions or financial performance, may cause the carrying 
values of CGUs or groups of CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

(ii)  Indefinite useful lives
Management has determined that some of the intangible assets (brands and licences) recognised as part of business combinations have 
indefinite useful lives. These assets have no legal or contractual expiry date and are integral to future revenue generation. Management 
intends to continue to promote, maintain and defend the brands and licences to the extent necessary to maintain their values for the 
foreseeable future.

Management assesses the useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets at the end of each reporting period. If an intangible asset is no 
longer considered to have an indefinite useful life, this change is accounted for prospectively.
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13. Intangible assets continued

Goodwill

Brands 
and 

licences

Course 
development 

and 
accreditation

Customer 
relationships

Computer 
software 

and website 
development

Work in 
progress Total

Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013
Cost  1,291.4  282.8  11.3  47.8  54.0  2.6  1,689.9 
Accumulated amortisation  -  - (5.2) (22.4) (26.7)  - (54.3)

Net book amount  1,291.4  282.8  6.1  25.4  27.3  2.6  1,635.6 

Year ended 30 June 2014
Opening net book amount  1,291.4  282.8  6.1  25.4  27.3  2.6  1,635.6 
Exchange differences (35.7) (7.5)  - (0.6) (0.2)  - (44.0)
Additions  -  -  0.9  -  2.6  28.3  31.8 
Transfers  -  -  -  -  23.7 (23.7)  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1)  1.1  1.0  -  0.3  3.0  -  5.4 
Disposal of subsidiaries(2) 5 (60.6) (19.3) (6.4) (0.3) (1.8) (0.3) (88.7)
Amortisation charge(3) 5  -  - (0.6) (11.8) (13.8)  - (26.2)

Closing net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 

At 30 June 2014 
Cost  1,196.2  257.0  -  42.9  77.5  6.9  1,580.5 
Accumulated amortisation  -  -  - (29.9) (36.7)  - (66.6)

Net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 
Opening net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 
Exchange differences  160.8  34.1  -  1.7  1.5  -  198.1 
Additions  -  -  -  -  1.0  39.1  40.1 
Transfers  -  -  -  -  41.0 (41.0)  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1) 21(b)  590.1  81.6  -  16.0  1.2  -  688.9 

Amortisation charge(3) 5  -  -  - (14.0) (17.4)  - (31.4)

Closing net book amount  1,947.1  372.7  -  16.7  68.1  5.0  2,409.6 

At 30 June 2015
Cost  1,947.1  372.7  -  66.5  121.9  5.0  2,513.2 

Accumulated amortisation  -  -  - (49.8) (53.8)  - (103.6)

Net book amount  1,947.1  372.7  -  16.7  68.1  5.0  2,409.6 

1. Includes identifiable intangible assets acquired through the purchase of JobStreet (2014: Jora).
2. Includes THINK and DWT.
3. Amortisation charges have been included within 'operations and administration' expenses in the consolidated income statement.
 

Accounting policy continued 

(v)  Computer software and website development
Costs incurred in acquiring, developing and implementing new websites or software are recognised as intangible assets only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, licences and direct labour. 

Software has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of software over its estimated useful life, which is between three and five years.

Website developments have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of website developments over their estimated useful lives, 
which is between three and five years.

(vi)  Work in progress
Work in progress (WIP) represents intangible assets of other classes not yet put into use. These assets are transferred to the other class 
on the date of completion.
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(a)  Cash-generating-units (CGUs)
For the purpose of undertaking impairment testing, the Group has determined its CGUs as the smallest group of assets that 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. This assessment 
is usually determined by considering business and operating segments and areas of operation.

A summary by CGU of the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is detailed  below:

2015 2014

Goodwill

 Intangible 
assets with 

indefinite 
useful lives Goodwill

 Intangible 
assets with 

indefinite 
useful lives 

Business division CGU / Group of CGUs  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Domestic SEEK New Zealand  5.2  -  5.6  - 
Domestic SEEK Learning  3.7  -  3.7  - 
Domestic Jora  1.1  -  1.1  1.0 
International SEEK Asia (i)  986.9  137.0  295.4  41.8 
International Zhaopin  533.1  154.9  432.6  125.8 
International Brasil Online (ii)  277.1  58.0  319.2  66.8 

International OCC  140.0  21.8  138.6  21.6 

Total  1,947.1  371.7  1,196.2  257.0 

(i)  SEEK Asia
SEEK Asia is a leading provider of online employment marketplaces operating across seven countries throughout Asia. 
The goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives relating to SEEK Asia are a significant component of the 
consolidated balance sheet. The goodwill for this business is attributable to the strong market position it holds and the high 
growth potential in these emerging markets.

Each country has been determined as a CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible asset balances 
are assessed on the following basis:

•	 Goodwill is tested across the group of CGUs that comprise SEEK Asia as the goodwill balance contributes to the generation 
of cash flows across the whole of the businesses;

•	 The JobsDB and JobStreet brands are tested across the group of CGUs that comprise SEEK Asia as a high level of 
integration has been achieved in the period post acquisition of JobStreet in November 2014, with management having 
exercised its ability to direct cash flows from one brand to the other; and

•	 Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at the applicable CGU level.

(ii)  Brasil Online
Brasil Online operates the two leading online employment marketplaces in Brazil, Catho Online and Manager Online, and 
considers them as two CGUs. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible asset balances are assessed on 
the following basis:

•	 Goodwill is tested across the group of CGUs that comprise Brasil Online as the goodwill balance contributes to the 
generation of cash flows across the whole of the businesses; and

•	 Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at the applicable CGU level.

(b)  Impairment testing and key assumptions
The Group tests whether goodwill and other intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated above. The recoverable amounts of assets and CGUs have been determined based on the higher of 
value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of key assumptions on which management 
has based its cash flow projections, as well as pre-tax discount rates.

The cash flow projections were derived from management forecasts based on next year’s budgeted result, with the remaining 
years based on management forecasts. Management’s cash flow forecasts have been compiled based on past experience, 
current performance and market position as well as structural changes and economic factors which have been derived based 
on external data and internal analysis.

Key structural and market factors
Key assumptions relating to structural and market factors have been derived under a consistent approach to the prior year 
impairment assessment, utilising past experience, external data and internal analysis. The key structural and market factors 
considered comprise:
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13. Intangible assets continued

(b)  Impairment testing and key assumptions continued
Online employment businesses
Labour market growth, rising internet penetration, continued structural migration of advertising expenditure from print to 
online mediums and GDP growth. Management also anticipate growth from increased market penetration and continued 
evolution of products and services.

SEEK Learning
Regulatory environment and funding, as well as economic trends which have an impact on the types of courses students 
require and mode of study.

Key assumptions

CGU / Group of CGUs Valuation method

Years of 
cash flow 

projection
Real terminal 

growth rate

Pre-tax discount rate %

2015 2014

SEEK New Zealand Value in use 5 0% 17.4 18.4
SEEK Learning Value in use 5 0% 15.3 14.9
Jora (i) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a n/a
SEEK Asia (ii) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a 15.7
Zhaopin (iii) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a n/a
Brasil Online Fair value less costs of disposal 10 0% 21.7 21.1
OCC Fair value less costs of disposal 10 0% 17.8 17.6

(i) Jora
On 26 November 2013, the Group acquired 100% controlling interest in Job Seeker Pty Ltd (Jora), an Australian-based search 
engine for jobs. At 30 June 2015, the recoverable amount of its assets have been determined based on fair value less costs of 
disposal, with reference to the recent purchase price of the acquired interest. There are no indicators to suggest that the fair 
value of Jora has significantly changed since acquisition.

(ii)  SEEK Asia
On 2 June 2015, the Group acquired a further 5.2% interest in SEEK Asia. At 30 June 2015, the recoverable amount of 
its assets have been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal, with reference to the recent purchase price 
of the acquired interest. There are no indicators to suggest that the fair value of SEEK Asia has significantly changed 
since acquisition.

(iii)  Zhaopin
Zhaopin is the leading career platform in China focusing on connecting candidates with relevant job opportunities throughout 
their career lifecycle. On 12 June 2014, Zhaopin successfully listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The recoverable amounts 
of Zhaopin’s assets as at 30 June 2015 have been assessed with reference to its listed share price and cross-referenced 
against other supplementary internal analysis.

(c) Sensitivity analysis
Future net cash flows of these CGUs are based on the key assumptions noted above, each of which are subject to some 
uncertainty. Any reasonable change in the key assumptions would not result in the carrying amounts exceeding their 
recoverable amounts.

14.  Net tangible asset backing
2015 2014

cents per 
share

cents per 
share

Net tangible asset backing per share  (176.75)  (13.32)

A large proportion of the Group’s assets are intangible in nature, consisting of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 
relating to businesses acquired. These assets are excluded from the calculation of net tangible assets per security, which 
results in the negative outcome.

Net assets per share at 30 June 2015 was $5.23 (30 June 2014: $4.31).
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15.  Borrowings

(a)  Current borrowings
2015 2014

$m $m

Bank borrowings- principal (i)  153.0  - 
Entrusted loan facilities (ii)  25.9  22.2 

Short-term loan (iii)  36.0  - 

Total current borrowings  214.9  22.2 

(b)  Non-current borrowings
2015 2014

$m $m

Bank borrowings - principal (i)  635.9  332.0 
Entrusted loan facilities (ii)  33.7  50.7 
Long-term loan (iii)  106.6  - 

Less:  transaction costs capitalised (6.9) (2.9)

Total non-current borrowings  769.3  379.8 

(i)  Syndicated facility (unsecured) - SEEK Limited
On 5 March 2014, the Group re-financed its syndicated debt facility and the pre-existing facility comprising A$350m and 
US$100.0m, was extinguished.  A new syndicated facility was established, and as per the previous facility, the structure is a 
revolving, unsecured, syndicated senior debt facility.  Key features of the facility include:

•	 Tranche A:  A$183.0m (2 years);

•	 Tranche B: A$282.0m (3 years);

•	 Tranche C: US$273.0m (4 years).

The facility is provided by a syndicate comprising the existing syndicate members National Australia Bank, Westpac Banking 
Corporation, ANZ, Commonwealth Bank and HSBC, and new members United Overseas Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
Corporation and Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ.

As at 30 June 2015, A$788.9m principal had been drawn down against the new facility, comprising A$435.0m and US$273.0m.  
Transaction costs of A$2.4m which were incurred to establish the facility have been capitalised on the consolidated balance 
sheet, of which A$1.4m has not yet been amortised through the consolidated income statement.  

The Group is in the process of extending its existing syndicated debt facility, with anticipated improvements in pricing and key 
commercial terms, and extending maturities by a further 18 months.  The process is progressing well and is expected to be 
completed within the next few weeks.

As at the date of this report, total drawn on the syndicated debt facility is A$805.7m, comprising A$435.0m and US$273.0m.

Accounting policy
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an 
incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the facility.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period.



38 SEEK Limited Preliminary Final Report 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

15.  Borrowings continued
(ii)  Entrusted loan facilities - Zhaopin Limited
Zhaopin utilises entrusted loan facilities.  As at 30 June 2015, the facilities are with HSBC and ANZ banks, with limits of 
US$50.0m. An RMB 85.0m facility was fully repaid during the year.

At 30 June 2015, US$46.0m (A$59.6m) was drawn down on these facilities. The facilities are supported by funds on deposit of 
RMB441.1m (A$93.5m) within the Zhaopin Group and are non-recourse to the SEEK Limited wholly-owned group.

(iii) Loan Facility – SEEK Asia
In November 2014, SEEK Asia acquired 100% of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad.  Refer to 
note 21 for further details of this transaction.

The transaction was partially funded by establishing a new syndicated multi-currency amortising debt facility.  Key features of 
the facility include:

•	 Facility A: SG$96.8m (equivalent to US$75.0m at date of drawdown);

•	 Facility B: HK$387.8m (equivalent to US$50.0m at date of drawdown);

•	 4 year tenor (amortising);

•	 Supported by guarantees, cross-guarantees and security provided by agreed SEEK Asia subsidiaries; and

•	 Non-recourse to the SEEK Limited wholly-owned group.

As at 30 June 2015, A$142.6m principal had been drawn down against the debt facility, comprising SG$87.3m and HK$349.9m. 
As at the date of this report, total drawn on the facility is A$145.5m, comprising SG$87.3m and HK$349.9m.

Establishment and transaction costs of HK$38.3m (A$6.0m) were incurred to establish the facility and have been capitalised 
in the consolidated balance sheet, of which HK$32.4m (A$5.5m) has not yet been amortised through the consolidated 
income statement.

16.  Other financial liabilities
2015 2014

$m $m

Hedge liabilities (i)  10.0  6.8 

Deferred consideration (ii)  -  1.4 

Total other financial liabilities  10.0  8.2 

(i) Hedge liabilities
USD Cross currency swap contract - net investment hedge
SEEK entered into a cross currency swap for US$33.6m to continue to hedge its net investment in Zhaopin.  A loss of $7.2m 
(2014: $0.5m gain) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the fair value of 
this net investment hedge at 30 June 2015.

HKD Cross currency swap contract – net investment hedge
During 2012, SEEK entered into a net investment hedge for HK$388.7m (A$50.0m). This was designated as a hedge against 
the Hong Kong assets, thereby protecting this portion of assets against depreciation of the HKD over the three year life 
of the swap.   This swap was settled in June 2015.  A loss of $14.8m was recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedge
The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to 
pay interest at fixed rates. The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement 
dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The contracts are settled on a net basis.

A loss of $2.8m (2014: $1.0m) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the 
change in fair value of the interest rate swap contracts in the financial year.

Refer to note 10(a)(i) for further information regarding the Group’s hedge liabilities.

(ii) Deferred consideration
This balance represented amounts which may have been be required to be paid to the vendor of JobsDB at a future date to be 
agreed with the vendor. During the year, the Group settled this deferred consideration for $1.7m.
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17.  Provisions

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Following the guidance in AASB 3: Business Combinations, the Group has recognised a provision for contingent liabilities acquired in 
a business combination. The provision is measured at the fair value of the contingent liabilities, which reflects the range of possible 
outcomes across the portfolio of contingent liabilities and is adjusted for risk. The carrying amount of the provision is reassessed in each 
subsequent reporting period.

Accounting policy
Provisions for legal claims and make-good obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Make-good provisions are amortised through profit or loss over the 
life of the lease.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to calculate the present value of employee benefits is determined by reference 
to market yields at the end of the reporting period.  The discount rate used to determine the present value of other provisions is a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(a)  Current provisions
2015 2014

$m $m

Employee benefits provision (1)  15.3  8.1 

Other current provisions  20.9  15.0 

Total current provisions  36.2  23.1 

(1) Includes long service leave, all of which is expected to be used in the next 12 months.
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17.  Provisions continued

(a)  Current provisions continued

Movement in provisions
The movement in ‘other current provisions’ during the financial year is set out below:

Lease 
incentives

Make-good 
provisions

Acquired 
contingent 

liabilities (i)

Dividend 
withholding 

tax Total
$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013  1.0  0.7  18.4  4.4  24.5 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.3)  - (3.8) (4.4) (8.5)
Transfer (to)/from non-current provisions  0.1 (0.7)  -  - (0.6)
Exchange differences  -  - (0.4)  - (0.4)

At 30 June 2014  0.8  -  14.2  -  15.0 

Additional provision recognised in the year  -  -  0.3  -  0.3 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.6)  -  -  - (0.6)
Assumed in a business combination  -  -  2.1  -  2.1 
Transfer (to)/from non-current provisions  0.3  -  -  -  0.3 

Exchange differences  -  -  3.8  -  3.8 

At 30 June 2015  0.5  -  20.4  -  20.9 

(i)  Acquired contingent liabilities
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on business combinations, as described in note 21, in 2015 the Group 
recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Jobstreet business combination. 

In 2013 the Group recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Zhaopin business combination; 
these relate to tax and labour contingent liabilities. The settlements of these contingent liabilities are uncertain and the 
difference between the settlement amounts and the amounts provided for may be material.

(b)  Non-current provisions
2015 2014

$m $m

Employee benefits provision (1)  5.8  4.1 

Other non-current provisions  20.5  19.3 

Total non-current provisions  26.3  23.4 

1. Includes long service leave and cash long-term incentives.
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Movements in provisions
The movement in lease incentives, make-good provisions and other provisions during the financial year is set out below:

Lease 
incentives

Make-good 
provisions

Acquired 
contingent 

liabilities (i)
Tax cases 

provision (ii) Other Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013  3.4  2.1  11.0  5.3  3.0  24.8 
Additional provision recognised in the year  -  0.1  -  1.7  -  1.8 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.6)  - (1.0)  - (1.1) (2.7)
Disposal of subsidiary (1.9) (2.9)  -  -  - (4.8)
Transfer (to)/from current provisions (0.1)  0.7  -  -  -  0.6 
Exchange differences  -  - (0.3) (0.1)  - (0.4)

At 30 June 2014  0.8  -  9.7  6.9  1.9  19.3 

Additional provision recognised in the year  -  -  -  0.5  1.3  1.8 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.2)  - (0.8)  - (1.9) (2.9)
Assumed in a business combination  -  -  4.5  -  -  4.5 
Transfer (to)/from current provisions (0.3)  -  -  -  - (0.3)

Exchange differences  -  - (0.7) (1.0) (0.2) (1.9)

At 30 June 2015  0.3  -  12.7  6.4  1.1  20.5 

(i)  Acquired contingent liabilities 
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on business combinations, as described in note 21, in 2015 the Group 
recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Jobstreet business combination.

In 2012 the Group recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Brasil Online business combination, 
relating to a number of outstanding legal, tax and social security provisions. The remaining cases may take a number of years 
to come to conclusion and the difference between the settlement amounts and the amounts provided for may be material.

(ii)  Tax cases provision
Catho Online (a subsidiary of Brasil Online) is subject to a number of tax infraction notices from the tax authority in Brazil. 
These tax infractions are either open, subject to legal proceedings, or under appeal after legal proceedings. Based on advice 
from local legal counsel, Catho has estimated the most likely amounts payable including penalties and interest and have 
recognised this amount as a provision.

(c)  Unrecognised contingent liabilities
Unrecognised contingent liabilities represent the possible (but not probable) cash outflow in excess of any provision. They do 
not represent management’s expectation of likely outflow and are not recognised on the balance sheet. They are disclosed 
unless the possibility of outflow is remote. 

The Group has $5.0m of unrecognised contingent liabilities at 30 June 2015 (2014: $4.0m) which relate to labour and civil 
cases in Brasil Online and its subsidiaries.
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18.  Contributed equity

(a)  Share capital
Consolidated and parent entity

2015 2014 2015 2014
Shares Shares $m $m

Ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid  344,098,479  340,459,756  222.9  203.7 

(b)  Movements in ordinary share capital

Date Details
Number of 

Shares
Average issue 

price $ $m

1 July 2013 Balance  337,833,019  189.5 

Exercise of options  2,197,570 6.46  14.2 
Exercise of performance rights  429,167  -  - 

30 June 2014 Balance (including treasury shares)  340,459,756  203.7 
Less: Treasury shares (407,286)  - 

30 June 2014 Balance (excluding treasury shares)  340,052,470  203.7 

1 July 2014 Balance 340,459,756  203.7 
27 August 2014 Exercise of options 94,413  7.39  0.7 
1 September 2014 Exercise of options 1,006,434  5.36  5.4 
1 September 2014 Exercise of performance rights 68,492  -  - 
12 September 2014 Exercise of performance rights 235,177  -  - 
15 September 2014 Exercise of options 327,439  5.36  1.7 
17 September 2014 Exercise of options 143,411  5.36  0.8 
28 November 2014 Exercise of options 252,520  5.36  1.3 
28 November 2014 Exercise of options 35,275  7.39  0.3 
19 February 2015 Exercise of options 6,275  7.39  - 
10 March 2015 Exercise of options 20,916  7.39  0.2 
11 March 2015 Exercise of options 5,320  7.39  - 
17 March 2015 Exercise of options 416,660  7.39  3.1 
17 March 2015 Exercise of options 964,065  5.36  5.2 
25 March 2015 Exercise of options 6,765  7.39  - 
27 March 2015 Exercise of options 19,090  7.39  0.2 
1 June 2015 Exercise of options 21,514  7.39  0.2 

30 June 2015 Exercise of options 14,957  7.39  0.1 

30 June 2015 Balance (including treasury shares) 344,098,479  222.9 

Less: Treasury shares (299,790)  -  - 

30 June 2015 Balance (excluding treasury shares)  343,798,689  222.9 

 

Accounting policy
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, performance rights or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-based 
payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity 
attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares 
are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related 
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited.
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(c)  Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and 
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

(d)  Treasury shares
On 1 July 2014, 407,286 treasury shares were transferred to employees under the Performance Rights and Options Plan. 
These shares therefore ceased to be held as treasury shares after this date.

In September 2014, the Group issued 303,669 shares to be held in the Employee share trust for the participants of certain 
equity-based compensation schemes. 3,879 shares were released to employees during the year, resulting in 299,790 shares 
remaining as treasury shares at 30 June 2015. These plans vested 1 July 2015, and as such these shares are no longer 
restricted by the trust and have been returned to ordinary share capital in July 2015. .

(e)  Exercise of staff options
During the current year, 3,335,054 (2014: 2,197,570) shares were issued to fulfil employee options exercised in the year.  
No shares (2014: nil) were acquired on market in relation to other exercised employee options.

19.  Equity

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share-based payments reserve

The reserve is comprised of two components:

Unexercised: is used to recognise the fair value of options and performance rights issued but not exercised; 

Exercised: is used to hold the fair value of options that have been exercised, and options that have lapsed but are not required to be 
adjusted through the consolidated income statement.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign controlled entities and associates are recognised in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, as described in note 32(b). 

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised 
directly in equity, as described in note 10. Amounts are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the associated hedged 
transaction affects the profit or loss or when it is impaired or sold or if the forecast transaction is no longer expected to take place.

Net investment hedge reserve

The net investment hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a net investment hedge that are 
recognised directly in equity, as described in note 10. Amounts are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the 
associated hedged transaction affects the profit or loss or when it is impaired or sold. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to profit or loss when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Financial asset revaluation reserve

The financial asset revaluation reserve is used to record changes in the fair value of investments in equity instruments that are not held 
for trading, for which the Group has elected at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other comprehensive income.

Transfers under common control reserve

The transfers under common control reserve is used to record the net impact on the equity attributable to the shareholders of the Group 
in the event of a transfer of an entity under common control.  Upon disposal of all interests in that entity by the Group this reserve would 
be transferred to retained earnings. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests

This reserve is used to record differences arising as a result of transactions with a non-controlling interest that do not result in a loss of 
control. 
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19.  Equity continued
Reconciliation of movement in equity

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
profits

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Net investment 
hedge reserve

Financial asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Transfers under 
common control 

reserve

Transactions 
with non-

controlling 
interests Total reserves

For the year ended 30 June 2014 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  22.1  85.0  0.7 (21.6)  - (11.2)  75.0  513.5  519.6  1,296.6 
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  - (34.8)  -  -  -  -  - (34.8)  - (9.0) (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  - (4.6)  -  -  -  -  - (4.6)  -  - (4.6)
Gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  6.8 
Losses on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  - (1.0)

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  15.3  -  -  -  -  -  15.3  -  -  15.3 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  15.3 (39.4) (1.0)  6.8  -  -  - (18.3)  195.6  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  -  -  -  -  8.1  -  -  8.1 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  5.8  -  -  -  -  -  -  5.8  -  -  5.8 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.1  1.1  -  0.3  1.4 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  -  -  -  -  - (4.2)  4.2  -  - 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary under common 
control  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.1)  0.1 (1.0)  -  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  -  -  -  -  -  9.6  9.6  -  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK 22  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (1.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.2 (0.8)  - (0.2)  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.5) (1.5)  -  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  46.1  45.6 (0.3) (14.8)  - (1.1) (1.7)  73.8  624.9  566.2  1,468.6 

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  281.2  34.0  315.2 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  -  137.1  -  -  -  -  -  137.1  -  68.9  206.0 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  -  2.1  -  -  -  -  -  2.1  -  -  2.1 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  6.6 (68.6)  -  -  - (62.0)  -  - (62.0)
Gains on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  1.6 
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step 
acquisition  -  -  0.5  -  -  -  -  -  0.5  -  -  0.5 
Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  -  -  -  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  2.9  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.9  -  -  2.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  2.9  139.7  8.2 (68.6)  4.9  -  -  87.1  281.2  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  -  -  -  -  -  10.3  -  -  10.3 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  2.7  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.7  -  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (8.6) (8.6)  -  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  -  -  -  -  -  - (10.6)  10.6  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiariesⁱ 19(a)  -  -  25.0  -  -  -  - (62.5) (37.5)  - (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (3.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.1 (2.9)  -  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  -  -  -  -  -  0.6  -  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  49.0  210.3  7.9 (83.4)  4.9 (1.1) (72.7)  114.9  796.5  666.6  1,800.9 
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19.  Equity continued
Reconciliation of movement in equity

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
profits

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Net investment 
hedge reserve

Financial asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Transfers under 
common control 

reserve

Transactions 
with non-

controlling 
interests Total reserves

For the year ended 30 June 2014 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  22.1  85.0  0.7 (21.6)  - (11.2)  75.0  513.5  519.6  1,296.6 
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  - (34.8)  -  -  -  -  - (34.8)  - (9.0) (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  - (4.6)  -  -  -  -  - (4.6)  -  - (4.6)
Gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  6.8 
Losses on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  - (1.0)

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  15.3  -  -  -  -  -  15.3  -  -  15.3 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  15.3 (39.4) (1.0)  6.8  -  -  - (18.3)  195.6  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  -  -  -  -  8.1  -  -  8.1 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  5.8  -  -  -  -  -  -  5.8  -  -  5.8 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.1  1.1  -  0.3  1.4 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  -  -  -  -  - (4.2)  4.2  -  - 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary under common 
control  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.1)  0.1 (1.0)  -  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  -  -  -  -  -  9.6  9.6  -  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK 22  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (1.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.2 (0.8)  - (0.2)  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.5) (1.5)  -  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  46.1  45.6 (0.3) (14.8)  - (1.1) (1.7)  73.8  624.9  566.2  1,468.6 

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  281.2  34.0  315.2 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  -  137.1  -  -  -  -  -  137.1  -  68.9  206.0 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  -  2.1  -  -  -  -  -  2.1  -  -  2.1 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  6.6 (68.6)  -  -  - (62.0)  -  - (62.0)
Gains on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  1.6 
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step 
acquisition  -  -  0.5  -  -  -  -  -  0.5  -  -  0.5 
Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  -  -  -  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  2.9  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.9  -  -  2.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  2.9  139.7  8.2 (68.6)  4.9  -  -  87.1  281.2  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  -  -  -  -  -  10.3  -  -  10.3 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  2.7  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.7  -  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (8.6) (8.6)  -  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  -  -  -  -  -  - (10.6)  10.6  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiariesⁱ 19(a)  -  -  25.0  -  -  -  - (62.5) (37.5)  - (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (3.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.1 (2.9)  -  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  -  -  -  -  -  0.6  -  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  49.0  210.3  7.9 (83.4)  4.9 (1.1) (72.7)  114.9  796.5  666.6  1,800.9 
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19.  Equity continued
Reconciliation of movement in equity continued

(a) Change in ownership of subsidiaries

(i) SEEK Asia
As a result of the funding structure for the acquisition of JobStreet (refer to note 21), SEEK’s interest in SEEK Asia increased 
from 69.0% to 75.6%. On 2 June SEEK further increased it’s interest to 80.8%.The current ownership structure of SEEK Asia is 
as follows:

Investor Ownership in SEEK Asia

SEEK Limited 80.8%
Non-controlling interests
Windfyr Pty Ltd (News Corp) 12.9%
Macquarie Capital 3.3%
Tiger Global 3.0%

Total non-controlling interests 19.2%

The change in ownership in SEEK Asia has resulted in a movement of $29.9m in the transactions with non-controlling 
interests reserve and a decrease in non-controlling interests of $44.8m, which partly offset the $100.1m increase in  
non-controlling interests due to co-investor contributions.

(ii) OCC
On 2 June 2015, SEEK’s interest in OCC increased from 56.4% to 98.2%. The change in ownership in OCC has resulted in a 
movement of $32.6m in the transactions with non-controlling interests reserve and a decrease in non-controlling interests of 
$78.1m.

20. Dividends

Accounting policy
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, 
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

Payment Amount per
Franked 

amount per Total dividend
date share share $m

Financial Year 2014
2013 final dividend 16 October 2013  12.0 cents  12.0 cents  $40.7 
2014 interim dividend 30 April 2014  14.0 cents  14.0 cents  $47.7 
Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2014  $88.4 

Financial Year 2015

2014 final dividend 17 October 2014  16.0 cents  16.0 cents  $54.8 

2015 interim dividend 21 April 2015  19.0 cents  19.0 cents  $65.4 

Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2015  $120.2 

Dividends paid or declared by the Company after the year end (to be paid out of retained profits at 30 June 2015):

The 2015 final dividend will be franked out of franking credits arising from the balance of the franking account as at the year 
end and the payment of income tax subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2015. At 30 June 2015, all Australian controlled 
entities are included in the SEEK consolidated income tax group and therefore their franking credits are fully available for 
distribution to shareholders of SEEK Limited.

The balance of the franking account at 30 June 2015, adjusted for franking credits that will arise from the payment of the 
current tax liability, is $99.0m (2014: $120.1m) based on a tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%). The dividend payment on 16 October 
2015 will reduce the franking credits available by $25.1m for the consolidated Group. 

2015 final dividend 16 October 2015 17.0 cents 17.0 cents  $58.5 
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21.  Business combinations 

On 20 November 2014, the Group through its majority owned subsidiary SEEKAsia Ltd (“SEEK Asia”), acquired 100% of the 
online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad (“JCB”) for total consideration of MYR 1,933.8m (A$665.4m at 
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction).

The acquired business (“JobStreet”) operates online employment markets in Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia, the Philippines 
and Vietnam. This acquisition is a continuation of SEEK’s expansion in the strategic and high growth Asian region.

Total consideration of MYR 1,933.8m (A$665.4m) was funded as follows:

•	 SEEK’s consideration of A$421.4m, comprising of existing JCB equity of A$127.3m and cash contribution of A$294.1m 
funded primarily via SEEK’s Group Debt Facilities;

•	 SEEK Asia co-investors (News Corp, Macquarie Capital and Tiger Global) collectively contributed A$93.2m; and

•	 SEEK Asia debt funding of A$150.8m, including bank debt of A$139.6m and a working capital loan from SEEK Limited of 
A$11.2m.

From the date of acquisition the Group has accounted for JobStreet as a controlled entity. Prior to this, JobStreet was 
accounted for within JCB as an associate (refer to note 24).

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Following the guidance in AASB 3: Business Combinations, the Group has made assumptions and estimates to determine the purchase 
price of businesses acquired as well as its allocation to acquired assets and liabilities. 

The Group is required to determine the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, including intangible assets such as 
brands, customer relationships and liabilities assumed. The assumptions and estimates made by the Group have an impact on the asset 
and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements. In addition, the estimated useful lives of the acquired amortisable assets, the 
identification of intangible assets and the determination of the indefinite or finite useful lives of intangible assets acquired will have an 
impact on the Group’s future profit or loss.

In step acquisitions where the Group obtains control over an entity by acquiring an additional interest in that entity, the Group’s previously 
held equity interest is remeasured to fair value at the date the controlling interest is acquired and a gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. The Group has also adopted the fair value method in measuring non-controlling interests in recent step 
acquisitions. The determination of these fair values involves management’s judgement and takes into consideration purchase price of 
the acquired controlling interest, other comparable transactions and trading comparables.

Accounting policy
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts 
payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms 
and conditions.

The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement 
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial 
liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquired deferred tax assets recognised after the initial acquisition 
accounting will increase the Group’s net profit after tax.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 
subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and 
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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21.  Business combinations continued
Post-divestment of its online employment businesses, JCB remains a listed entity on the Bursa Malaysia Securities. Although 
SEEK retains 20.1% ownership in this listed entity, SEEK no longer has significant influence over JCB and its remaining 
businesses (refer to note 24). As a result SEEK accounts for its 20.1% investment in JCB as a non-current financial asset with 
changes in underlying fair value going through other comprehensive income in equity (refer to note 12b)). 

(a) Purchase consideration
The total purchase consideration is detailed in the table below:

 
 
 
 

(b) Details of net assets and liabilities acquired

Initial accounting
The net identifiable assets acquired are still preliminary. In view of the recent timing of the transaction, the Group 
are currently finalising the allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets. In particular, the contingent 
liabilities and fair values assigned to intangible assets are still being assessed and subject to finalisation. The 
acquisition accounting will be finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date, in line with accounting standards.

Revised 
preliminary Preliminary 

fair value fair value
Notes $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents  24.1  24.1 
Trade and other receivables  4.7  4.7 
Plant and equipment  1.8  1.8 
Intangible assets

      Brands and licences 13  81.6  - 
      Customer relationships 13  16.0  - 
      Computer software and website development 13  1.2  - 
Deferred tax assets 7  2.2  2.2 
Trade and other payables (3.4) (3.4)
Unearned income (18.3) (18.3)
Current tax liabilities (1.8) (1.8)
Current contingent liabilities 17 (2.1) (1.3)
Non-current contingent liabilities 17 (4.5) (4.4)
Current provisions (2.2) (2.2)
Non-current provisions (0.3) (0.3)

Deferred tax liabilities 7 (23.7)  - 

Net identifiable assets acquired  75.3  1.1 

Add: goodwill  590.1  663.9 

Net assets acquired  665.4  665.0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The goodwill is attributable to JobStreet’s strong position in its market and the high growth potential of that market.  Goodwill  
is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquired receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is $4.7m and includes trade receivables with a fair value of $3.0m. The gross 
contractual amount of trade receivables due is $3.1m of which $0.1m is expected to be uncollectible.

Acquired contingent liabilities
The Group has recognised $6.6m as the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the business combination. 
This amount is management’s best estimate based on a range of possible outcomes, and relates to tax and legal contingent 
liabilities. 

Purchase consideration
$m

SEEK cash contribution  294.1 
Existing JCB equity  127.3 
SEEK Asia co-investor contribution  93.2 

SEEK Asia accessed debt  150.8 

Total purchase consideration  665.4 
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(c) Fair value gain
The Group’s previously held equity interest in JCB as an associate has been re-measured at the acquisition date fair value. 
Part of the fair value of SEEK’s existing interest in the online employment businesses (JobStreet) has been offset against the 
purchase consideration ($127.3m of the total fair value of $128.6m), with the remaining $1.3m received in cash.

The Group has also recycled amounts held in reserves in relation to this associate including foreign currency translation 
losses. The resulting net gain before tax of $100.3m has been recognised in ‘other income’ in the consolidated income 
statement (refer to note 4). 

Gain on step 
acquisition

Notes $m

Fair value of SEEK 20.1% interest in JobStreet  128.6 
Fair value of SEEK 20.1% interest in remaining entities of JCB 12(b)  14.1 
Less: carrying value of JCB as an associate (41.9)

Less: foreign currency translation reserve loss recycled 19 (0.5)

Fair value gain on step acquisition (before tax)  100.3 

Add: tax on reserve balances recycled  - 

Fair value gain on step acquisition (after tax) 4  100.3 

 
 

(d) Revenue and profit contribution
JobStreet contributed revenues of $45.7m and net profit of $10.8m before non-controlling interests to the SEEK Group 
for the period from 20 November 2014 to 30 June 2015. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2014, the contribution to 
consolidated revenue and consolidated profit before non-controlling interests of the SEEK Group for the current period would 
have been $70.7m and $18.1m respectively, offset by a reduction in the share of net loss from equity accounted investments 
(JCB) of $0.9m.

These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of JobStreet to reflect 
the additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had 
applied from 1 July 2014, together with any tax effects.

(e) Year end
The statutory reporting entities within JobStreet previously had a 31 December year end. The process to align the statutory 
year end of these entities to 30 June is currently in progress. For group reporting purposes, the financial year end has been 
aligned to that of the SEEK Group.

(f) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $14.0m have been recognised in the consolidated income statement in ‘operations and 
administration’ expenses in FY2015. Further, $2.2m of transaction costs were expensed in the year ended 30 June 2014.

22.  Discontinued operation

On 7 November 2013, SEEK Limited and Laureate Education, Inc. entered into a share sale agreement for Laureate to acquire 
the remaining 80% of THINK Education Group. SEEK ceased to have control of THINK after 30 November 2013, on the basis 
that SEEK no longer had the power to direct activities that affected returns from that date. Cash settlement was received on 
20 December 2013. The sale of THINK represented a strategic decision which allowed management to focus on its key online 
employment and online education businesses.

In addition to the consideration, $8.0m previously held in escrow and a further $4.0m were paid on 19 December 2014 and 
2 January 2015 respectively, for exceeding expected enrolments made by SEEK Learning in THINK courses. In accordance 
with AASB 118: Revenue Recognition, $4.0m revenue has been recognised at 30 June 2015 (2014: $8.0m) based on the 
proportion of SEEK Learning enrolments in THINK courses.

Accounting policy
A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated entity’s business that represents a separate line of business operations 
that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative 
statement of comprehensive income is restated as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the period.
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23.  Interests in controlled entities
(a)  Material subsidiaries
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2015 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights of the Group except for Zhaopin with voting rights of 75.3%(3). The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following consolidated entities in accordance with the accounting policy 
described in note 32(b):

Equity holding Equity holding
Country of Principal 2015 2014

Name of entity incorporation activities % %

SEEK NZ Limited New Zealand Provides online employment advertising services in New Zealand 100 100

SEEK Learning Pty Ltd(1) Australia Online sales and marketing distribution channel focused on education and training 100 100

SEEK International Investments II Cooperatie U.A.(2) Netherlands Holding company 100 100

   Online Career Centre Mexico, S.A.P.I de CV (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "OCC") Mexico Provides online employment advertising services in Mexico 98.2 56.4

   Brasil Online Holdings Cooperatief U.A.(2) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "Brasil Online") Netherlands Holding company 51 51

     Catho Online, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

     Manager Online Servicos de Internet, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd(1) Australia Holding company 100 100

   SEEKAsia Ltd (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “SEEK Asia”) Cayman Islands Holding company 80.8 69

      Jobs DB Inc British Virgin Islands Holding company 100 100

         Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Provides online employment advertising services in Hong Kong 100 100

         Jobs DB Singapore Pte Limited Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 100

         Jobs DB Recruitment (Thailand) Limited Thailand Provides online employment advertising services in Thailand 100 100

         Jobs DB Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) 49(4)

         PT Jobs DB Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 90 90

         Jobs DB Philippines Inc. Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 100

      SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding company 100 -

         88 Karat Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Holding company 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Pte Ltd Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 -

         JobStreet.com Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         Agensi Perkerjaan JS Staffing Services Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Philippines, Inc Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 -

         PT. JobStreet Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 100 -

         JobStreet Company Limited Vietnam Provides online employment advertising services in Vietnam 100 -

   Zhaopin Limited(3)(5) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Zhaopin”) Cayman Islands Holding company 63.2 68.3

      Beijing Wangpin Consulting Co., Ltd P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China 90 90

      深圳市希捷尔人力资源有限公司 (Shenzhen  
      Xijier Human Resources Co., Ltd) (CJOL)

P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China
75.6 75.6

1. All wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.  For further details refer to note 26.

2. These are Cooperative entities in the Netherlands; SEEK's investment is in the form of a Member Contribution, rather than shares.

3. As at 30 June 2015, SEEK has an undiluted interest of 63.2% in Zhaopin Ltd with voting rights of 75.3%. The share capital of Zhaopin Ltd comprises Class A and Class B shares, 
with Class A shares entitled to one vote and Class B shares entitled to four votes.  SEEK holds Class B ordinary shares, resulting in voting rights that are not in proportion to share 
ownership.

4. The Group has fully consolidated these entities, along with Jobs DB Assets (Thailand) Limited, Jobs DB Prestige Inc. and PT Prestige Indonesia, because the Group (via Jobs DB Inc or 
SEEK Asia Investments Pte Ltd) has the ability to control their financial and operating policies despite not holding a majority of equity as required by local regulations.

5. Special purpose entities (SPE): Since February 2013 the Group has fully consolidated the following entities because Zhaopin Limited has the ability to control their financial and 
operating policies despite not holding a direct ownership: Beijing Zhilian Sanke Human Resources Service Co. Ltd, Fuzhou Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Harbin Zhilian Wangcai 
Advertising Co. Ltd., Xiamen Zhilian Wangpin Commercial Service Co. Ltd., Wuhan Zhilian Rencai Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang Zhilian Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang 
Zhilian Recruitment Service Co. Ltd., Dalian Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Hangzhou Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd and Guangzhou Houbo Information Technology Co. Ltd.  Sichuan 
Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. and Tianjin Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. were closed during FY2015. Through existing contractual agreements, the Group is able to exercise effective control 
over the SPEs and receive substantially all of the economic benefits and residual returns as if it were the sole shareholder.
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23.  Interests in controlled entities
(a)  Material subsidiaries
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2015 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights of the Group except for Zhaopin with voting rights of 75.3%(3). The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following consolidated entities in accordance with the accounting policy 
described in note 32(b):

Equity holding Equity holding
Country of Principal 2015 2014

Name of entity incorporation activities % %

SEEK NZ Limited New Zealand Provides online employment advertising services in New Zealand 100 100

SEEK Learning Pty Ltd(1) Australia Online sales and marketing distribution channel focused on education and training 100 100

SEEK International Investments II Cooperatie U.A.(2) Netherlands Holding company 100 100

   Online Career Centre Mexico, S.A.P.I de CV (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "OCC") Mexico Provides online employment advertising services in Mexico 98.2 56.4

   Brasil Online Holdings Cooperatief U.A.(2) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "Brasil Online") Netherlands Holding company 51 51

     Catho Online, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

     Manager Online Servicos de Internet, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd(1) Australia Holding company 100 100

   SEEKAsia Ltd (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “SEEK Asia”) Cayman Islands Holding company 80.8 69

      Jobs DB Inc British Virgin Islands Holding company 100 100

         Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Provides online employment advertising services in Hong Kong 100 100

         Jobs DB Singapore Pte Limited Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 100

         Jobs DB Recruitment (Thailand) Limited Thailand Provides online employment advertising services in Thailand 100 100

         Jobs DB Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) 49(4)

         PT Jobs DB Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 90 90

         Jobs DB Philippines Inc. Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 100

      SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding company 100 -

         88 Karat Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Holding company 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Pte Ltd Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 -

         JobStreet.com Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         Agensi Perkerjaan JS Staffing Services Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Philippines, Inc Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 -

         PT. JobStreet Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 100 -

         JobStreet Company Limited Vietnam Provides online employment advertising services in Vietnam 100 -

   Zhaopin Limited(3)(5) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Zhaopin”) Cayman Islands Holding company 63.2 68.3

      Beijing Wangpin Consulting Co., Ltd P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China 90 90

      深圳市希捷尔人力资源有限公司 (Shenzhen  
      Xijier Human Resources Co., Ltd) (CJOL)

P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China
75.6 75.6

1. All wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.  For further details refer to note 26.

2. These are Cooperative entities in the Netherlands; SEEK's investment is in the form of a Member Contribution, rather than shares.

3. As at 30 June 2015, SEEK has an undiluted interest of 63.2% in Zhaopin Ltd with voting rights of 75.3%. The share capital of Zhaopin Ltd comprises Class A and Class B shares, 
with Class A shares entitled to one vote and Class B shares entitled to four votes.  SEEK holds Class B ordinary shares, resulting in voting rights that are not in proportion to share 
ownership.

4. The Group has fully consolidated these entities, along with Jobs DB Assets (Thailand) Limited, Jobs DB Prestige Inc. and PT Prestige Indonesia, because the Group (via Jobs DB Inc or 
SEEK Asia Investments Pte Ltd) has the ability to control their financial and operating policies despite not holding a majority of equity as required by local regulations.

5. Special purpose entities (SPE): Since February 2013 the Group has fully consolidated the following entities because Zhaopin Limited has the ability to control their financial and 
operating policies despite not holding a direct ownership: Beijing Zhilian Sanke Human Resources Service Co. Ltd, Fuzhou Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Harbin Zhilian Wangcai 
Advertising Co. Ltd., Xiamen Zhilian Wangpin Commercial Service Co. Ltd., Wuhan Zhilian Rencai Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang Zhilian Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang 
Zhilian Recruitment Service Co. Ltd., Dalian Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Hangzhou Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd and Guangzhou Houbo Information Technology Co. Ltd.  Sichuan 
Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. and Tianjin Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. were closed during FY2015. Through existing contractual agreements, the Group is able to exercise effective control 
over the SPEs and receive substantially all of the economic benefits and residual returns as if it were the sole shareholder.
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24.  Interests in equity accounted investments

(a)  Material interests in associates and joint ventures
Set out below are the associates and joint arrangements of the Group as at 30 June 2015 which, in the opinion of the directors, 
are material to the Group. 

Country of
Ownership 
interest %

Associates Incorporation 2015 2014 Principal activities

IDP Education Pty Ltd (IDP) Australia 50.0 50.0 Provides services for international students wishing 
to study in Australian educational institutions and 
also provides International English Language Testing 
(IELTS)

JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB) Malaysia (i) 20.0 Provider of online employment websites in Asia

One Africa Media (Pty) Ltd (OAM) 
(formerly Private Property Holdings Pty 
Ltd) (ii)

South Africa 27.5 24.4 Owns, operates and invests in a portfolio of African 
market leading online marketplaces in the segments 
of jobs, cars, real estate and travel

Joint ventures

Online Education Services Ltd 
(Swinburne Online)

Australia 50.0 50.0 A joint venture entity between SEEK and Swinburne 
University of Technology to deliver online learning to 
students

Babajob Services Private Ltd (Babajob) 
(iii)

India 46.2 n/a Provider of online and mobile employment 
marketplaces across India.

(i) JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB)
As explained above, within ‘Critical judgements’, from 20 November 2014 SEEK has accounted for its 20.1% interest in JCB as 
a non-current financial asset. 

(ii) One Africa Media (OAM)
On 15 April 2015, SEEK entered into a share subscription agreement to make an additional US$10.0m investment in OAM 
(in two tranches of US$5m each).  Tranche 1 of US$5.0m ($6.4m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction) was 
settled in April 2015 taking SEEK’s ownership in OAM to 27.5%. Tranche 2 of US$5.0m is subject to certain conditions which 
management expects to be fulfilled in the first half of FY2016. On settlement of Tranche 2, SEEK’s ownership in OAM will 
increase to 30.0%.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
(i)  Significant influence over associates 
The Group follows the guidance in AASB 128: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to determine its level of control and influence 
over its investments in associates. This determination can require judgement particularly around voting rights and participation in the 
financial and operating activities of the investee. If the Group’s influence increased such that the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating activities of the associate, then its results would have to be fully consolidated. Conversely, if the Group’s influence 
reduced and the Group did not have the power to participate in the financial and operating activities of the associate then it would need to 
account for its interest in the associate as a financial asset.

The key judgemental areas are as follows:

IDP Education Pty Ltd (IDP)

The Group owns 50% of the voting rights in IDP. The Group does not have control over the investment as its voting rights and board seats 
are equal to its co-investors. The Group is required to equity account for IDP as an associate company due to the fact that the Group has 
significant influence over IDP.

JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB)

At 30 June 2015, SEEK has 20.1% ownership interest in this listed entity.  However as a consequence of the business combination 
described in note 21, on 20 November 2014 management determined that there no longer existed sufficient evidence of significant 
influence to support accounting for this investment as an associate.  As a result, from 20 November 2014, SEEK accounts for its 20.1% 
interest in JCB as a non-current financial asset.

(ii)  Impairment of the investment in associates
The Group has not impaired any of its investments in associates, a decision which requires significant estimates and judgements. As 
required by current Accounting Standards, the Group has evaluated, among other factors, the financial health of and business outlook 
for its associates and assessed the carrying value of its investments against current estimated fair value. Where an impairment indicator 
exists due to the current economic climate an impairment test has been performed. This has resulted in no impairment write downs 
being required in the current financial period.
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(iii) Acquisition of a minority stake in Babajob Services Private Ltd (Babajob)
On 17 April 2015, SEEK acquired a fully diluted 38.0% equity interest in Babajob (46.2% undiluted) for US$10.0m (A$12.8m at 
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction). Babajob is India’s first web and mobile start-up dedicated to bringing better 
job opportunities to aspiring workers across the country. India is a large addressable market with favourable structural trends 
such as the rise of internet penetration, urbanisation and a growing labour force.

(iv) Quoted fair value
All associates and joint ventures held at 30 June 2015 are privately owned and do not have a published share price.

(b)  Summarised financial information 

(i) Summarised financial information recognised by SEEK

Share of net Dilution Total recognised Dividends Carrying
For the year ended 30 June 2015 profits/(losses) of investment in profit and loss received amount

$m $m $m $m $m

Associates

IDP  15.7  -  15.7  19.5  68.3 
JCB(1) (0.9)  - (0.9)  2.8  - 
OAM (2.8)  - (2.8)  -  23.1 
Other immaterial associates  -  -  -  0.1  15.1 

Joint ventures

Swinburne Online  10.0  -  10.0  6.6  12.9 

Babajob (0.3)  - (0.3)  -  13.0 

Total associates and joint ventures  21.7  -  21.7  29.0  132.4 

Share of net Dilution Total recognised Dividends Carrying
For the year ended 30 June 2014 profits/(losses) of investment in profit and loss received amount

$m $m $m $m $m

Associates

IDP  14.0  -  14.0  16.5  71.0 
JCB(2)  4.5 (4.9) (0.4)  2.5  46.1 
OAM (0.7) (0.5) (1.2)  -  17.5 
Other immaterial associates (0.1)  - (0.1)  -  9.1 

Joint ventures

Swinburne Online  6.4  -  6.4  1.1  9.4 
Babajob  -  -  -  -  - 
Total associates and joint ventures  24.1 (5.4)  18.7  20.1  153.1 

1. Results included as JCB was equity accounted until 19 November 2014.
2. Includes $4.1m relating to the dilution impact of share issurances by JCB to acquire 100% ownership interests in certain joint ventures prior to their divestment in the transaction 

with SEEKAsia Ltd.
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24.  Interests in equity accounted investments continued
(ii)  Summarised financial information in respect of associates

IDP OAM JCB (1)

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Summarised balance sheet $m $m $m $m $m $m

Current assets  97.6  86.9  9.2  11.3  -  53.7 
Non-current assets  68.8  60.1  16.3  13.5  -  51.9 
Current liabilities (66.1) (47.8) (5.9) (2.6)  - (22.1)

Non-current liabilities (8.9) (2.5)  -  -  -  - 

Net assets  91.4  96.7  19.6  22.2  -  83.5 

Group interest

Group's share in % 50.0% 50.0% 27.5% 24.4% 0.0% 20.0%
Group's share in $  45.7  48.3  5.4  5.4  -  16.7 
Goodwill  16.8  16.8  17.7  12.6  -  18.7 
Other intangibles  6.5  6.5  -  -  -  7.8 
Adjustment to update Group's share of net assets to estimated 
amount for 30 June 2014  -  -  -  -  -  1.0 

Other adjustments (0.7) (0.6)  - (0.5)  -  1.9 

Carrying amount  68.3  71.0  23.1  17.5  -  46.1 

IDP OAM JCB (1)

Summarised statement of 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
comprehensive income $m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue  309.8  256.8  10.1  7.7  26.3  45.4 

Profit/(loss) for the period  31.5  28.0 (11.3) (2.5) (4.0)  15.4 

Other comprehensive income (2.2)  1.8  2.7  3.5 (1.7) (7.1)

Total comprehensive income  29.3  29.8 (8.6)  1.0 (5.7)  8.3 

Individually immaterial associates
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial 
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. 

2015 2014
$m $m

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates  15.1  9.1 
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of:

  Losses from continuing operations  - (0.1)

  Other comprehensive income (1.2)  - 

  Total comprehensive income (1.2) (0.1)

1. JCB is listed in Malaysia and releases its results quarterly. As JCB was due to release its April to June 2014 quarter results after the date of publication of the SEEK financial 
statements, the JCB net assets for 30 June 2014 represented in the SEEK financial statements comprised the actual released net assets for 31 March 2014 and SEEK's internal 
estimate for the result for the April 2014 to June 2014 quarter.  The JCB result for 2014 presented in the SEEK financial statements comprises the actual released results for July 
2013 to March 2014.
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(ii) Summarised financial information in respect of joint ventures
Swinburne Online Babajob

2015 2014 2015 2014
Summarised balance sheet $m $m $m $m

Current assets  37.6  32.3  12.3  - 
Non-current assets  3.8  1.9  -  - 
Current liabilities (15.3) (15.2) (0.1)  - 

Non-current liabilities (0.4) (0.1)  -  - 

Net assets  25.7  18.9  12.2  - 

Assets and liabilities above include:
Cash and cash equivalents  37.3  31.7  0.4  - 
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and 
provisions) (8.5) (9.1) (0.1)  - 

Group interest

Group's share in % 50.0% 50.0% 46.2% 0.0%
Group's share in $  12.9  9.4  5.7  - 

Goodwill  -  -  7.3  - 

Carrying amount  12.9  9.4  13.0  - 

Swinburne Online Babajob

Summarised statement of 2015 2014 2015 2014
comprehensive income $m $m $m $m

Revenue  78.7  53.5  0.1  - 
Interest income  0.7  0.6  -  - 
Other operating costs (49.8) (33.9) (0.8)  - 
Depreciation and amortisation (0.8) (0.5)  -  - 

Income tax expense (8.6) (5.9)  -  - 

Profit for the period  20.2  13.8 (0.7)  - 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  0.3  - 

Total comprehensive income  20.2  13.8 (0.4)  - 
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25.  Deed of cross guarantee
The following controlled entities have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee:

Company  Financial year entered into agreement 

SEEK Limited 30 June 2006
SEEK Learning Pty Ltd 30 June 2006
SEEK Campus Pty Ltd 30 June 2006
SEEK Commercial Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
SEEK Investments Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
Job Seeker Pty Ltd 30 June 2014

HS Holdco Pty Ltd 30 June 2015

The companies that are party to this deed guarantee the debts of the others and represent the “Closed Group” from the date 
of entering into the agreement. 

These wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under 
Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Entities removed from the Deed of Cross Guarantee Group during FY2015
On 23 June 2014, Dynamic Web Training Pty Ltd (DWT) was sold.  As such, DWT has exited the SEEK Limited “Closed Group”.
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(a) � Income statement, other comprehensive income and a summary of movements in 
consolidated retained profits

Since there are no other parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by SEEK Limited the companies detailed 
on the preceding page also represent the “Extended Closed Group”.

2015 2014
Statement of comprehensive income $m $m

Income statement

Revenue from continuing operations  371.6  353.6 
Other income  100.3  - 

Operating expenses
Direct cost of services (3.9) (4.8)
Sales and marketing (87.5) (66.5)
Business development (43.6) (30.5)
Operations and administration (34.7) (49.6)

Finance costs (22.2) (23.2)

Total operating expenses (191.9) (174.6)

Share of results of equity accounted investments  21.4  18.6 

Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations  301.4  197.6 

Income tax expense (40.0) (36.6)

Profit from continuing operations  261.4  161.0 

Profit from discontinued operation(1)  -  59.1 

Profit for the year  261.4  220.1 

Other comprehensive income   
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  0.8 (4.7)
(Losses)/gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities (61.9)  6.5 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  1.6 (1.0)
Change in fair value of financial assets  4.9  - 

Income tax relating to other comprehensive income  2.9  15.3 

Other comprehensive income for the year (51.7)  16.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year  209.7  236.2 

Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits
Retained profits at 1 July  410.0  274.1 
Profit for the year  261.4  220.1 
Tax credited directly to retained profits - share-based payments  10.6  4.2 

Dividends paid (120.2) (88.4)

Retained profits at 30 June  561.8  410.0 

1. This represents the parent company's gain on sale of THINK which forms part of the Group's gain on sale (refer to note 22).
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25.  Deed of cross guarantee continued
(b)  Consolidated balance sheet
Set out below is a consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2015 of the Closed Group.

2015 2014
Consolidated balance sheet $m $m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  29.0  65.8 
Trade and other receivables  53.5  56.6 
Other financial assets  13.2  1.8 

Current tax assets 8.7  - 

Total current assets  104.4  124.2 

Non-current assets

Investments in controlled entities  1,281.7  678.9 
Investments accounted for using the equity method  125.2  147.4 
Plant and equipment  7.3  6.1 
Intangible assets  63.7  39.8 
Other financial assets  19.0  - 
Deferred tax assets  4.9  22.6 

Loans with controlled entities  1.4  1.9 

Total non-current assets  1,503.2  896.7 

Total assets  1,607.6  1,020.9 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  29.9  22.6 
Current borrowings  153.0  - 
Unearned income  19.7  15.7 
Other financial liabilities  9.2  6.8 
Current tax liabilities  -  6.6 

Current provisions  10.3  8.2 

Total current liabilities  222.1  59.9 

Non-current liabilities

Non-current borrowings  634.5  329.9 
Deferred tax liabilities  0.4  0.4 

Non-current provisions  1.5  1.6 

Total non-current liabilities  636.4  331.9 

Total liabilities  858.5  391.8 

Net assets  749.1  629.1 

Equity

Contributed equity  222.9  203.7 
Reserves (35.6)  15.4 

Retained profits  561.8  410.0 

Total equity  749.1  629.1 
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26.  Parent entity financial information

(a)  Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

2015 2014
$m $m

Balance sheet

Current assets  92.7  99.7 
Total assets  1,226.2  807.8 
Current liabilities (177.1) (32.6)

Total liabilities (826.0) (370.2)

Net assets  400.2  437.6 

Equity
Issued capital  222.9  203.7 
Reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve  6.3 (0.4)
Net investment hedge reserve (73.4) (12.5)
Share-based payments reserve  40.0  37.5 
Transactions with non-controlling interests (3.6) (3.6)

Retained earnings  208.0  212.9 

 400.2  437.6 

Profit or loss for the year  104.6  150.9 

Total comprehensive income  50.7  155.3 

Accounting policy
The financial information for the parent entity, SEEK Limited, has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of SEEK Limited. 
Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss when its right to receive the dividend is established, 
rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

(ii)  Income tax consolidation legislation
SEEK Limited and its wholly-owned Australian entities have elected to form an income tax consolidated group.

SEEK Limited (as the head entity) and its wholly-owned Australian entities (as members of the SEEK income tax consolidated 
group) account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the income tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, SEEK Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from its wholly-owned entities in the income tax 
consolidated group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which they fully compensate SEEK Limited for any current tax payable 
assumed and are compensated by SEEK Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses 
or unused tax credits that are transferred to SEEK Limited under the income tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are 
determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, 
which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding 
amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with the 
income tax consolidated entities are recognised as current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a 
contribution to (or distribution from) entities within the SEEK income tax consolidated group.

(iii)  Financial guarantees
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no compensation, the fair 
values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.
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(b)  Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has given unsecured guarantees along with its Australian subsidiaries in respect of the syndicated loan 
facility of A$465.0m and US$273.0m of which A$788.9m has been drawn down at 30 June 2015. Refer to note 15.

In addition, there are cross guarantees given by SEEK Limited, as described in note 25. No deficiencies of assets exist in any 
of these entities. The parent entity has further provided a guarantee in respect of obligations for rental commitments, as 
described in note 28.

(c)  Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).

(d)  Contractual commitments
As at 30 June 2015, the parent entity had contractual commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to  
non-cancellable operating leases totalling $17.8m (2014: $10.7m). Other commitments for the payment of IT services, 
advertising and promotions under long-term contracts in existence totalled $4.7m (2014: $1.3m).

27.  Contingent liabilities
At 30 June 2015, the Group has unrecognised contingent liabilities relating to Brasil Online of $5.0m (2014: $4.0m). Refer to 
note 17(c) for further details.

There are no other contingent liabilities.

28.  Commitments for expenditure

(a) Lease commitments

Operating leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2015 2014
$m

Within one year  20.6  14.6 
Later than one year but not later than five years  43.5  32.6 

More than five years  -  0.5 

Total  64.1  47.7 

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one to five years. The leases have 
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the lease are negotiated.

(b) Other commitments
Commitments for the payment of IT services, advertising and promotions under long-term contracts in existence at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities payable are as follows:

2015 2014
$m $m

Within one year  9.2  8.6 

Later than one year but not later than five years  4.7  7.6 

Total  13.9  16.2 

29.  Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Extension of syndicated debt facility
The Group is in the process of extending its existing syndicated debt facility, with anticipated improvements in pricing and key 
commercial terms, and extending maturities by a further 18 months.  The process is progressing well and is expected to be 
completed within the next few weeks.
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30.  Related party transactions
(a)  Interests in controlled entities
Interests in controlled entities are set out in note 23.	

(b)  Transactions with equity accounted investments
The following transactions occurred with equity accounted investments:	

2015 2014
$ $

Dividends and distributions received from equity accounted investments  29,018,388 20,145,630
Directors' fees and other personnel costs charged to equity accounted investments  250,533 232,563

Sales to equity accounted investments  6,734,583 7,045,004

(c)  Transactions with key management personnel

2015 2014
$ $

Short-term employee benefits  7,441,062 6,699,919
Post-employment benefits  285,742 245,509
Share-based employee benefits  8,409,852 6,318,771

Other long-term benefits  171,806 102,208

 16,308,462 13,366,407

(d)  Transactions with other related parties
No other related parties have been identified other than those disclosed above. 

Some of the Group’s independent non-executive directors are also non-executive directors for other companies. SEEK 
Limited, from time to time, may provide or receive services from these companies on an arm’s-length basis.
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31.  Remuneration of auditors
In FY2014 and FY2015 the parent entity and its subsidiaries were audited by PriceWaterhouseCoopers Australia and related 
practices of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Australia. During the year the following fees were paid for services provided by the 
auditor of the parent entity and its related practices:

2015 2014
$ $

(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports  690,000  1,052,750 

Other assurance services:
Due diligence services  162,625  773,500 

Bank covenant, acquisition & statutory reporting  110,000  - 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  962,625  1,826,250 

Taxation services

Tax consulting - international  96,020  459,740 
Tax consulting - domestic  45,040  295,482 

Tax compliance  32,000  62,226 

Total remuneration for taxation services  173,060  817,448 

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia  1,135,685  2,643,698 

(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports(1)  1,794,535  3,138,129 

Other assurance services:

Other non audit services  456,390  765,870 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  2,250,925  3,903,999 

Taxation services

Tax compliance services, including review of company income tax returns  23,180  101,834 

Tax consulting  17,098  - 

Total remuneration for taxation services  40,278  101,834 

Total remuneration of related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia  2,291,203  4,005,833 

1. Audit and review of financial reports in 2014 includes one-off fees of $2.2m relating to Zhaopin US GAAP review (IPO requirements).
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32.  Other significant accounting policies
(a)  Principles of consolidation

(i)  Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group (refer to note 21).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively. 

(ii)  Associates and joint ventures
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition.

Joint ventures are all entities over which the Group has joint control with one or more other investors.  Joint control exists 
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Investments 
in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s 
investment in joint ventures includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

Under the equity method, the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of 
post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends received are recognised as reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the investment, including any other 
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its equity accounted investments are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investment. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investments have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(iii)  Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within 
equity attributable to owners of SEEK Limited.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value becomes the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. 
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if 
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only 
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate.
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32.  Other significant accounting policies continued
(b)  Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is SEEK Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)  Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or 
are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Where foreign currency denominated borrowings have been designated as a hedge for accounting purposes and the hedge 
remains effective, exchange gains and losses are recorded in the net investment hedge reserve. Otherwise exchange gains 
and losses are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other expenses.

(iii)  Group companies
The results and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

•	 income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and 
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the 
associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(c)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Valued Added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST and VAT, unless the GST and VAT incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST and VAT receivable or payable. The net amount of GST and 
VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included within “trade and other receivables” or “trade and other 
payables” in the consolidated balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST and VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST and VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

(d)  Impairment of assets
Assets other than goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period.
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(e)  New and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations

(i)  New and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued and effective
The Group has adopted the following new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations which were applicable as 
disclosed in the table below. Adoption of these new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations has not had a 
material impact on the Company or the Group.

Summary
Application date of 

standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 2012-3 – Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation to 
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

1 January 2014 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  

Amendments to clarify minor points in various accounting standards, including AASB 2, AASB 3, 
AASB 8, AASB 13, AASB 116, AASB 138 and AASB 124.

1 July 2014 1 July 2014

AASB 1031 – Materiality

The revised AASB 1031 is an interim standard that cross-references to other Standards and the 
Framework (issued December 2013) that contain guidance on materiality.  AASB 1031 will be 
withdrawn when references to AASB 1031 in all Standards and Interpretations have been removed.

1 January 2014 1 July 2014

AASB 9 – Financial Instruments (2013)

AASB 9 (2013) simplifies the model for classifying and recognising financial instruments and aligns 
hedge accounting more closely with common risk management practices. In addition, the hedge 
effectiveness testing requirements have changed.

1 January 2018 1 July 2014

(ii)  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
Certain new Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2015 reporting 
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s interpretation of the impact of these new Standards is set 
out below:

Summary
Application date of 

standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 9 – Financial Instruments (2014)

AASB 9’s new impairment model is a move away from AASB 139’s incurred credit loss approach to 
an expected credit loss model. Earlier recognition of impairment losses is likely to result. 

These changes are not expected to result in a material impact on the financial statements.

1 January 2018 1 July 2018

AASB15 – Revenue from contracts with customers

The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS 18 which 
covers contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. The new 
standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service 
transfers to a customer – so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards.

The Group has conducted an initial analysis of the potential impact on each line of business and 
product type. Detailed analysis, including quantification of the potential impact, is now being 
performed on the segments and products that are more likely to generate a material difference.

1 January 2017 1 July 2017

Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101

The amendments clarify a number of presentation issues and highlight that preparers are permitted 
to tailor the format and presentation of the financial statements to their circumstances and the 
needs of users.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle  

Amendments to clarify minor points in various accounting standards, including AASB 5, AASB 7, 
AASB 119 and AASB 134. These changes are not expected to result in a material impact on the 
financial statements.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016

AASB 2014-10 – Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or JV

The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associates or joint ventures. They confirm that the accounting depends on whether 
the contributed assets constitute a business or an asset. These changes are not expected to result 
in a material impact on the financial statements.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016
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